
Agricultural Advisory Committee
AGENDA

 
Thursday, November 12, 2015

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street
Pages

1. Call to Order

THE CHAIR WILL CALL THE HEARING TO ORDER:

(a)    The purpose of this Meeting is to consider certain Development Applications as
noted on this meeting Agenda.

(b)    The Reports to Committee concerning the subject development applications are
available on the City's website at www.kelowna.ca.

(c)     All representations to the Agricultural Advisory Committee form part of the
public record.

(d)     As an Advisory Committee of Council, the Agricultural Advisory Comittee will
make a recommendation of support or non-support for each application as part of the
public process.  City Council will consider the application at a future date and,
depending on the nature of the file, will make a decision or a recommendation to the
Agricultural Land Commission.

2. Applications for Consideration

2.1 1040 Old Vernon Road, A15-0010 - 0698329 BC Ltd. (Benson Law LLP) 3 - 56

The applicant is requesting permission from the Agricultural Land Commission
(ALC) to exclude Lot 2, Plan KAP546, Section 1, TWP, ODYD at 1040 Old Vernon
Road, Kelowna BC from the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR).

2.2 2075 KLO Road, Rezoning Application No. Z15-0045  and Text Amendment No.
TA15-0010- Tyler Linttell

57 - 91

The applicant is seeking to rezone the parcel from A1 to A1t – Agriculture 1
with agri-tourist accommodation in order to develop RV sites on the parcel.

The applicant is also seeking to amend the A1t zone to eliminate the minimum
number of agri-tourist accommodation units based on parcel size. This would
permit the applicant to develop 10 agri-tourist accommodation units, the
current bylaw restricts the subject parcel to 5 accommodation units.  

1

http://www.kelowna.ca/


2.3 4275 Goodison Road, A15-0011 - Kristi Caldwell 92 - 114

To obtain approval from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) under Section
20(3) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act for a “non-farm use” within the
Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) to have a distillery, using primarily non-farm
products, and hold wedding ceremonies.

2.4 3240 Pooley Road, A15-0012 - Wyn Lewis 115 - 130

To obtain approval from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) under Section
20 (3) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act for a "Non-farm Use" within the
Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) to build a parking lot for the winery, for
special events at the winery and for the proposed frisbee golf area.

3. Minutes 131 - 135

Approve Minutes of the Meeting of October 8, 2015.

4. Referrals

5. Old Business

5.1 Ministry of Agriculture - Discussion Paper on Agri-tourist Accommodation and
Farm Retail Sales

Discussion and Comments

6. New Business

6.1 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan

Renew Document - Policy and Planning

6.2 Agriculture Adaptation Workshop - Agriculture and Climate Change

7. Next Meeting

December 10, 2015

8. Termination of Meeting

2



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
 

Date: October 9, 2015 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: Agricultural Advisory Committee (AAC) 

From: Community Planning Department (MS) 

Application: A15-0010 Owner:  0698329 BC Ltd. 

Address: 1040 Old Vernon Rd Applicant: Benson Law LLP 

Subject: Application to the ALC to exclude a property from the ALR  

 

1.0 Purpose 

The applicant is requesting permission from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) to exclude 
Lot 2, Plan KAP546, Section 1, TWP, ODYD at 1040 Old Vernon Road, Kelowna BC from the 
Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR). 

2.0 Proposal 

2.1 Project Description 

The applicant is requesting an exclusion of their farm from the ALR. The site has history of use as 
a sawmill. In  

The application proposes a future land use of Industrial for the parcel, specifically I2 – General 
Industrial or I3 - Heavy Industrial. Such a use would require an Official Community Plan 
amendment to the Permanent Growth Boundary, the Future Land Use, and a rezoning 
amendment, should the ALC approve the exclusion from the ALR. 

2.2 Background 

The site has a history of use as a sawmill. In 1972, at the creation of the ALR, the sawmill 
footprint was approximately 1.0 ha (2.47 acres).  

In 1985, an application to the ALC was submitted to increase the area of the sawmill onto Lot 3, 
to the west. The expansion to Lot 3 had occurred, and the owners were seeking authorization for 
its continued use as a sawmill. Through Resolution # 993/85, authorization was granted, for a 
limited area of 1.7 ha, which was the current extent of the operation. (See attached Resolution 
#993/85). 

From 1998 through 1999, a number of enforcement actions were taken by the ALC, due to the use 
of Lot 2, 3 and part of Lot 1 as a recycling wood and construction debris facility. These 
enforcement actions resulted in a Non-Farm Use application in 2000. In June of 2000, the ALC 
permitted the continued use of Lot 2 and Lot 3 in it’s function as a wood and construction waste 

3



A15-0010 – Page 2 

 
 

and composting facility, subject to a number of conditions. (See attached ALC Staff Report and 
Resolution #437/2000.) 

ALC Resolution #437/2000 – The ALC resolution allowed recycling as a use on the property. 
Specifically, the ALC: 

 Considered the processing and recycling of wood, metal, concrete and trees to be largely 
consistent with the sawmill / wood recycling non-farm uses previously allowed. 

 Allowed the installation of a fence on the west, east and north boundaries of the facility. 

 Required the reclamation of Lot 1, Plan KAP546 (1124 Old Vernon Rd) to the east to 
agriculture. 

McColman and Sons Demolition Ltd.currently functions as a construction waste recycling 
company. They purchased the property in 2005. They also own an industrial parcel on Neave 
Road, purchased in 2003, used for the operation. 

2.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located in the Rutland Sector of the City and is within the Agricultural 
Land Reserve. It is zoned A1 – Agriculture 1 (Maps 1 – 4, below) and is outside of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary.   

Staff notes that 1040 Old Vernon Road is within the Intensive Agriculture Area according to the 
City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000. Therefore, intensive agriculture such as poultry, 
mushrooms, and other intensive livestock operations would be permitted in this location under 
the bylaw. 

The property slopes gently from the southeast corner to the northwest, with less than 2.5% grade 
change, from 416 metres above sea level (masl) at the northwest corner up to 426 masl at the 
southeast corner.  

Parcel Summary  

 Parcel Size: 4.04 ha (9.99 acres) 
 Elevation: 416 to 426 metres above sea level (masl) (approx.) 

2.4 Land Use 

The subject property lies within the Resource Protection Area for land use according to the 
Official Community Plan. The properties to the west, south and east are also within the Resource 
Protection Area Future Land Use.  The properties to the north are outside Kelowna, within the 
Regional District of the Central Okanagan.   

Table 1:  Zoning and Land Use of Adjacent Property 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture (RDCO) 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes 
Agriculture / Fallow Fields / Agri-
tourist Accommodation (RV Park) 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture  

West A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Wood Waste Storage 

 

  

4



A15-0010 – Page 3 

 
 

Map 1 – Air Photo 1974 

 
 

Map 2 – Air Photo 2012

Lot 1 

Lot 4 
Lot 3 

Lot 2 

Sawmill 
Operation 
1974 

5



A15-0010 – Page 4 

 
 

Map 3 – 1984 Air Photo 

 
 

Map 4 – Air Photo 2006 

 

6



A15-0010 – Page 5 

 
 

Map 5 – Historic Land Use (2000) 

 

The property and that to the west, and part of the parcel to the east was used as a sawmill and 
wood waste site. 

Map 6 – Air Photo 2009 

 

982 Old 
Vernon Rd 

Subject Property 
1040 Old 

Vernon Road 

1124 - 2332 
Old Vernon Rd 

7



A15-0010 – Page 6 

 
 

 

           Map 7 – Existing Land Use (2012) 

 
  

The land use shown in the 2012 ortho photo, showing 1124 Old Vernon Road (Lot 1, Plan KAP546), 
reclaimed for agriculture as required by the ALC Resolution #437/2000, as part of approval to 
allow the non-farm use of Lot 2 and Lot 3 (1040 and 982 Old Vernon Road) to allow the use of a 
recycling facility on the property.  

         Map 7 – Neighbourhood Context 

 

Old Vernon Road  

Subject Property 
1040 Old Vernon Rd  
 

Morrison 
Road 

982 Old 
Vernon Rd 

Subject Property 
1040 Old 

Vernon Road 

1124 Old 
Vernon Rd  

 Rehabilitated 
to agriculture – 
Per condition of 
ALC Resolution 

#437/2000 

8



A15-0010 – Page 7 

 
 

 

Map 8– Permanent Growth Boundary 

 

 

Map 9 – Agricultural Land Reserve 

 

 

  

Subject Property 

ALR in the 
RDCO 

ALR 
(Typical) 

Permanent Growth Boundary 

Permanent Growth Boundary 

Site 

ALR in the 
RDCO 

9



A15-0010 – Page 8 

 
 

Map 10 – Future Land Use 

 
 

 

2.5 Agricultural Capability Assessment – 982 Old Vernon Road 

An agrology report was submitted with the application. It was completed in 2013 for the parcel 
to the west (982 Old Vernon Road, Lot 3 Plan 546). The lot has a similar history, and an affidavit 
has been submitted stating this, signed by the property owner.  

The agrology report indicates that 91% of 982 Old Vernon Road has an agricultural capability 
rating of Class 5, improvable to Class 3. Class 1 to 3 are considered prime agricultural land and 
relatively rare in the Okanagan. The required improvements include improved drainage (e.g. 
ditching) during high water months, particularly the spring, and the application of irrigation 
during the dry growing season months. The report considered the remaining 9% lost to agriculture 
due to a house and existing buildings. The report also noted a soil structure limitation, of a root 
restricting layer. However, this limitation was considered less severe than the soil moisture 
limitation, which is improvable with irrigation. The soil structure limitation could be improved 
with the removal of poor quality admixed fill, decompaction of an underlying clay layer, and 
replacement of topsoil to a depth of 0.75 m.  

The report estimates the cost to rehabilitate the soil on 984 Old Vernon Road1, to improve it to a 
point where it could support soil based agriculture. This cost included the following for this site: 

 $150,000 – Wood waste grinding 

 $711,698 – Import and spread clean topsoil (27,375 m3) 

 $178,941 – Trucking of soil 

                                                
1
 Valhalla Environmental Consulting Inc., 2013. Land Capability Assessment – 982 Old Vernon Road, Kelowna, BC, January 2013. 

Private 
Recreation 

Park 

ALR in the 
RDCO 

ALR in the 
RDCO 

Resource 
Protection Area 

Industrial 

Park 

Resource 
Protection Area 

Resource 
Protection Area 

Subject Property 

10



A15-0010 – Page 9 

 
 

The total estimated cost to improve the 984 Old Vernon Road to support soil based agriculture for 
984 Old Vernon Road noted in the report is $1,040,639. It cites that the soil rehabilitation costs 
prohibit soil based agriculture. 

Agricultural Capability – 982 Old Vernon Road (2013) 

The Assessment included a comparison with BC Government Capability Ratings2. The difference in 
results between the agrology report and the provincial ratings were deemed to be a result of 
mapping scale differences. The provincial ratings were: 

In general the site inspection finding showed that the climatic capability for this location 
corresponds with the provincial climatic capability mapping. Approximately 76% of the Subject 
Property was rated at Class 5 improvable to Class 1.  Approximately 15% of the Subject 
Property was rated at Class 5 improvable to Class 3.  The remaining 9% of the Subject 
Property was not assessed as it was deemed unavailable for agricultural use. 

In addition, the Assessment concluded that from an Agricultural Capability perspective3: 

The on-site agricultural capability ratings revealed a greater extent of excess water limitation 
(“W”) on the property although it was not as severe as depicted by the MOE mapping. As well, 
the published mapping showed that all areas of the Subject Property had an unimproved 
rating of 3A to 4A. By contrast, the on-site assessment identified persistent soil moisture 
deficiencies with an unimproved rating of 5A across the property. The improved ratings 
increased to Class 1 (northwest corner) to 3A (south and central area) with irrigation. 

Further, the additional cost to restore this land to an agricultural use is thought to represent a 
major barrier4: 

Significant remaining rehabilitation is needed for the property to be suitable for agriculture. 
The cost of the remaining improvements and rehabilitation that are necessary to prepare this 
property for agricultural use are not likely to be feasible. Furthermore, the required 
improvements (i.e. Removal of wood waste material and replacement of the topsoil layer 
across 91% of the Subject Property) greatly exceed what would be considered “typical farm 
improvement practices”, both in terms of the scope and costs for this work. The recovery of 
the improvement expenses by an agricultural production operation would be unlikely and is 
expected to be economically prohibitive. 

Agricultural Suitability 

The suitability of the subject property for various agricultural purposes was evaluated in terms of 
factors including: feasibility of improvements; availability of additional good quality topsoil; 
overall size; location and context; land use – historical, current and future plans; land use in 
surrounding area – historical, current and future plans; diversifications, innovations and 
improvements to date; agricultural capability ratings.   

The report states the costs of rehabilitating 984 Old Vernon Road for soil bound livestock, those 
animals that rely on pasture to feed, would be prohibitive5. 

The report indicates that intensive non-soil based agriculture, such as eggs or poultry production, 
would not be feasible for 984 Old Vernon Road due to the costs of required improvements, and 
the potential for neighbourhood complaints. The report did not specify the improvements needed 
for poultry or other intensive non-soil based agriculture. 

                                                
2 Ibid; p.9. 
3 Ibid; p.12. 
4 Ibid; p.13. 
5 Ibid; p.15. 

11



A15-0010 – Page 10 

 
 

The report indicates that the use of the 984 Old Vernon Road for non-soil bound horticultural 
agriculture would not be feasible due to the cost of the required improvements. The report did 
not specify the improvements needed for horticultural agriculture. 

The City received no confirmation from the author of the above report that the results are the 
same for 1040 Old Vernon Road, or if the costs or results would be the same for 2015. 

Impact Analysis 

Finally, the Assessment considered the impacts associated with the subject property as an 
industrially zoned parcel no longer in the ALR.  The Assessment concluded that “One of the 
advantages of having the Subject Property rehabilitated for industrial use would be the 
opportunity to install buffers between the site and surrounding properties that are being used 
for agricultural activities”6.  Further, the Assessment concluded that given that the subject 
property has not been used for agriculture since prior to the 1950s that no impact to local 
agricultural capacity will be incurred; and that while the exclusion of this property may serve as 
a precedent for the adjacent property (1040 Old Vernon Road), there should be no further 
impacts to surrounding lands as a result of excluding the subject property. 

2.6 982 Old Vernon Road – Exclusion Application 2013 

As noted, the property of 982 Old Vernon Road had been operated together with 1040 Old Vernon 

Road in its history as a sawmill and wood waste storage facility.  An application for exclusion was 

submitted for 982 Old Vernon Road in 2013. The application was not supported by the 

Agricultural Advisory Committee or Council, and was refused by the ALC through Resolution 

#93/2014. Comments for this application are included below. 

2.6.1 Agricultural Advisory Committee – A13-0004 – 2013-02-06 

MOVED BY Gill Green/SECONDED BY Yvonne Herbison  
THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee NOT support Application No. A13-0004 for 982 
Old Vernon Road, to obtain approval from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) to 
exclude approximately 4.04 ha (9.99 acres) from the Agricultural Land Reserve to 
facilitate a future rezoning of the subject property to an Industrial Use (i.e. I6 - Low 
Impact Transitional Industrial).  
CARRIED  

 
ANECDOTAL COMMENT: 
The Agricultural Advisory Committee did not support the application for exclusion, 
however, encouraged the Applicant to bring back another application if they could 
demonstrate a net benefit to agriculture. The AAC is concerned that putting an industrial 
use into the area would result in increased traffic and pressure for urban services in an 
otherwise rural area. While the AAC is unclear as to viable agriculture opportunities on 
the property, the AAC recommends the Applicant explore incorporating manure from a 
nearby feedlot and other organic materials (i.e. nitrogen sources) with the existing wood 
waste (i.e. carbon source) to create a great compost product. Another option would be a 
greenhouse operation, or other activity that does not involve soil based agriculture. 

2.6.2 Regional District of the Central Okanagan – A13-0004 – 2013-02-25 

                                                
6 Ibid; p.15. 

12



A15-0010 – Page 11 

 
 

The subject property is located adjacent to lands located within the Regional District that 

are also within the ALR. These lands represent larger A1 Agricultural zoned parcels that 

are designated Agriculture in the Ellison Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 1124. 

Agricultural policy of the Ellison OCP states, 'Support the retention of large continuous 

blocks of agricultural land and discourage fragmentation'.  

While it is recognized that there has been a longstanding non-farm use of the property, 

Planning staff questions the need and rationale for excluding this parcel from the ALR. 

The proposal is not in keeping with the above noted policy of the Ellison OCP and RDCO 

staff is concerned that there will be serious adverse impacts on neighbouring farm 

operations over the long-term should the subject parcel be excluded from the ALR and 

subsequently rezoned to allow industrial use. We note that a similar ALR exclusion 

application recently considered by the RDCO was refused by the Agricultural Land 

Commission on the grounds that the long-standing non-farm use (as established prior to 

creation of the ALR) could simply continue on the site. The ALC also advised that 

agricultural potential of the site may be achieved upon reclamation in the future. Of final 

note, planning staff recommends that input from neighbouring landowners should be given 

careful consideration prior to City Council review of the ALR exclusion application. 

2.6.2 Policy & Planning – City of Kelowna – A13-0004 – 2013-02-06 

The subject property has a land use designation of Resource Protection Area (REP) in the 

current Official Community Plan (OCP) and is zoned for Agriculture (A1). The property is 

outside of the Permanent Growth Boundary but is within the ALR.  

 

This application is for an exclusion from the ALR to allow for a Low Impact Transitional 

Industrial (I6) use. If the applicant is successful at removing the land from the ALR then 

they will require an OCP amendment as well as a rezoning to facilitate their proposed use 

for the property.  

 

Goal 9 of the OCP (Enable Healthy and Productive Agriculture), speaks to protecting 

agricultural lands. In addition, this application is contrary to the following policies in the 

current OCP: Objective 5.33; Policy 1 (Protect Agricultural Land), is intended to retain 

the agricultural land base; Objective 5.33; Policy 2 (ALR Exclusions), says that the City 

will not support ALR exclusions except in extraordinary circumstances. Therefore, this 

application does not comply with the current OCP. 

3.0 Public Notification 

The applicant has complied with the requirements of the ALC regarding exclusion notification. 
They have: 

 posted signage on their property of the application for exclusion; 

 advertised the application in the Kelowna Capital News (July 17th and July 24th, 2015); and  

 sent registered mail to all neighbours immediately adjacent their property. 

13



A15-0010 – Page 12 

 
 

 

4.0 Community Planning 

Council and staff are seeking a recommendation from the AAC with respect to the request for an 
exclusion. 

Both the City’s Agriculture Plan and the OCP recommend general non-support with respect to 
exclusion.  ALC policies state that consideration of any exclusion should be reviewed in the 
context of the overall agricultural integrity of the proposal.   

Therefore, the AAC should consider this exclusion request with respect to the overall agricultural 
benefit with respect to potential crops grown, and climate capability. In addition, the AAC should 
consider this exclusion with respect to the area’s future land use designation, and the City of 
Kelowna’s Permanent Growth Boundary. 

At this time City Staff and Council seek a recommendation on the proposal to exclude the subject 
property taking into account all relevant considerations.  Relevant information includes, but is 
not limited to the nature of the subject property (including adjacent and surrounding land uses), 
the historic use of the subject property, the agricultural viability of the subject property, the 
potential impact on adjacent and nearby properties and existing City policies.   

The AAC is also asked to consider and make recommendations which reflect the scenario as 
proposed.  The AAC should consider the impacts of an industrial land use and suggest mitigation 
opportunities should the ALC choose to support the proposed exclusion. 

Should the ALC allow the exclusion of a portion of the subject property, applications for OCP 
amendment (Resource Protection Area -> Industrial), rezoning (A1 – Agriculture -> I2 - General 
Industrial), and development permit with respect to farm protection will be required.    

 

Report prepared by: 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:  Todd Cashin, Community Planning Department Manager 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning & 
Real Estate 

 

Attachments:  

Attachment A – Policies 
Subject Property Map 
ALC Summary Report – June 6, 2000 and Resolution #437/2000 
Applicant ALC Act Application for Exclusion - Supplementary Information 

14



SCHEDULE A - Policies 
 
 
 

Subject: 1040 Old Vernon Rd – ALR Exclusion 

 

1.1 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998) 

 
ALR Application Criteria1 
Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

1.2 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan 

Objective2: Sensitively integrate new development with heritage resources and existing 
urban, agricultural and rural areas. 
Action towards this objective3: Evaluate the effectiveness of City policies and bylaws in 
preserving agricultural lands. 

1.3 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Land Use Designation Definitions 

Resource Protection Area4 
Generally land areas within this designation (whether they are within the permanent growth 
boundary or not) will not be supported for exclusion from the ALR or for more intensive 
development than that allowed under current zoning regulations, except in specific 
circumstances where the City of Kelowna will allow exceptions to satisfy civic objectives for the 
provision of park/recreation uses.  
 
Permanent Growth boundary5 
Lands within the permanent growth boundary may be considered for urban uses within the 20 
year planning horizon ending 2030. Lands outside the permanent growth boundary will not be 
supported for urban uses. 
 
 
Chapter 5 – Development Process 

Objective 5.3  Focus development to designated growth areas. 

Policy .1 Permanent Growth Boundary6. Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as identified 
on Map 4.1 and Map 5.2. Support development of property outside the Permanent Growth 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan. 1998. P. 130. 
2 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan. 2004. P. 7. 
3 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan. 2004. P. 29. 
4 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan. Future Land Use Chapter. P. 4.2. 
5 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan. Future Land Use Chapter. P. 4.6. 
6 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan. Development Process Chapter. P. 5.2. 

15



A15-0010 – Page 2 

 
 

Boundary for more intensive uses only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future Land Use 
designations in place as of initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except as per Council’s specific 
amendment of this policy. Resource Protection Area designated properties not in the ALR and 
outside the Permanent Growth Boundary will not be supported for subdivision below parcel sizes 
of 4.0 ha (10 acres). The Permanent Growth Boundary may be reviewed as part of the next major 
OCP update. 
 
 

Agricultural Land Use Policies 

Objective 5.33  Protect and enhance local agriculture7. 

Policy .1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 
 
Policy .2 ALR Exclusions. The City of Kelowna will not forward ALR exclusion applications to the 
ALC except in extraordinary circumstances where such exclusion is otherwise consistent with the 
goals, objectives and other policies of this OCP. Soil capability alone should not be used as 
justification for exclusion. 
 
Policy .3 Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on 
agricultural lands. 

 

1.4 Agricultural Land Commission Act (ALCA) 

Purposes of the commission – Section 6 of the ALCA 

The following are the purposes of the commission: 

(a) to preserve agricultural land; 

(b) to encourage farming on agricultural land in collaboration with 

other communities of interest; 

(c) to encourage local governments, first nations, the government and 

its agents to enable and accommodate farm use of agricultural land 

and uses compatible with agriculture in their plans, bylaws and 

policies. 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
7 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Agricultural Land Use Policies Chapter. P. 5.35.  

16



ALR

APPLICATION A15-0010

1040 OLD VERNON ROAD

ALR EXCLUSION

Subject Property

Map: 1,457 x 811 m -- Scale 1:8,607 2015-10-01

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

10/1/2015http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Subject_Properties_Ar...

17



 
 

 

 

Staff Summary Report 
 

Date of Report:  6 June 2000 

Report Prepared By: Ross Blackwell  

 

APPLICATION:    #21-G-KELO-2000-33263-0  

 

APPLICANT: Luigi & Marisa Russo  

 

AGENT:  Tom Smithwick, Q.C. 

 

TYPE OF APPLICATION:   Subdivision and/or Non-farm use 

 

DATE  RECEIVED:   04/27/2000 

 

PROPOSAL:   Applicant is requesting approval to use all of Lots 2 and 3 for the 

existing sawmill, wood waste recycling and pallet operation and will 

remove "a portion" of the sawmill operation from Lot 1 so as to 

make it available for agriculture.  In addition, the applicant is 

proposing to reduce the stockpiled compost material by 

incrementally placing it on Lot 4 as soil replenishment in 

conjunction with a proposed turf farm operation.  Finally, he 

proposes to sell the composted material from Lot 4. 

 

PROPERTY LOCATION:    Kelowna  

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT:  City of Kelowna   

 

SUBJECT PROPERTY SIZE (Ha):  15.7 

 

NUMBER OF PARCELS:   4.0 

 

AREA WITHIN ALR (Ha):   15.7  

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  

 

1) Lot 1, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546, Except that Part  

Lying South and East of Government Road as shown on Plan 546   

2)    Lot 2, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546  

3)     Lot 3, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546  

4)     Lot 4, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546  

 

        …2 

Land  Reserve Commission 
Working Farms, Working Forests 

18



Staff Report – June 6, 2000       #G-33263 

Page 2 

 

PRESENT USE:  sawmill, wood waste recycling and pallet operation  

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES: 

 

NORTH: agriculture 

SOUTH: agriculture 

EAST:    agriculture 

WEST:   agriculture 

 

LAND CAPABILITY FOR AGRICULTURE: - As taken from Agricultural Capability Map #82E.094   

 

Unimproved Ratings Improved Ratings % of Unit 

  

4AD 3D 40 

3AD 7:3D 3*3D 30 

8:4AD 2:6WN 8:3D 2:4WD 15 

6:5A 4:4A 6*3AP 4*1 15 

 

COMMUNITY PLAN DESIGNATION:   Rural/Agriculture 

 

ZONING:   Agriculture 1  

  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT RECOMMENDATION:  support 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  (regarding previous Application #19519) 

 

 This application, submitted pursuant to subsection 20(1) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act, was 

considered by the Commission on October 15, 1985.  The applicant requested permission to use 1.7 ha 

of Lot 3 for the storage of logs, lumber and sawdust.  The Commission noted at the time of the 

application that the 1.7 ha area had already been used as proposed.  The remainder of Lot 3 was orchard.    

 

The proposed 1.7 ha area was to be used in conjunction with the sawmill operation located on Lot 2.  A 

sawmill operation was established prior to the introduction of the Agricultural Land Commission Act  

and the 1.7 ha area was needed to store raw materials so the sawmill could operate year round.     

 

At the time of the application, the previous owner of Lot 4, Mr. Rudy Janzen, submitted a letter 

opposing the proposal based on his claim that the operation was stunting the growth of fruit trees and 

alfalfa.  Mr. Janzen had an agreement with the applicant whereby it was agreed the applicant would 

incorporate some changes to the operation to address Mr. Janzen’s concerns.  Mr. Janzen was to 

withdraw his objection to the proposal in return for these changes.   According to Mr. Janzen, the 

applicant failed to fulfill his obligations, as per the agreement, and therefore Mr. Janzen’s objection was 

lodged.  The City resolved to forward the application with the support of municipal council.   By 

Resolution #993/85, the Commission approved the application subject to the applicant complying with 

the terms of agreement established with Mr. Janzen.     

 

 

          …3 

19



Staff Report – June 6, 2000       #G-33263 

Page 3 

 

 On July 28, 1997 the Commission received a letter from Mr. Terry Bonneville who resides in the 

vicinity of the Russo operation.  Mr. Bonneville expressed concern over alleged unauthorized non - farm 

uses being undertaken on the Russo properties.  Mr. Bonneville wrote follow up letters on: 

 

 April 24, 1997 

 March 12, 1998 

 March 24, 1998 

 March 30, 1998 

 April 3, 1998 (2 letters) 

 April 8, 1998 

 April 20, 1998 

 April 22, 1998 

 

 As a result of Mr. Bonneville’s April 22, 1998 letter, the Chairman asked Mr. Colin Fry, Coordinator - 

Soil Conservation and Enforcement, to go to Kelowna and meet with Mr. Bonneville as soon as 

possible.   

 

 Mr. Fry met with Mr. Bonneville and his neighbour, Mr. Bob Tymchuk, on Wednesday, April 29, 1998.  

The meeting was held at Mr. Bonneville’s residence.  Mr. Bonneville and Mr. Tymchuk indicated  the 

primary concerns were expansion of the Russo infrastructure, the diversification of uses, noise and hours 

of operation.     

 

Mr. Bonneville’s home is situated south and slightly east of the Russo properties and at a higher 

elevation.  The meeting was held on Mr. Bonneville’s balcony which faces north providing a good 

vantage point to observe the Russo properties.  The non - farm activities utilize a portion of Lot 1 and all 

of Lots 2 and 3.  The current activities were not restricted to the sawmill and ancillary storage of logs, 

lumber and sawdust.  The northern portions of Lot 1, Lot 2 and Lot 3 were being used to stockpile 

wooden pallets and to stockpile and process wood and vegetative debris.    

 

Mr. Bonneville provided a copy of a City advertisement which appeared in the August 9, 1997 issue of 

the local newspaper.  The advertisement announced that clean wood waste could be taken to the Clean 

Wood Drop Zone at the Russo sawmill where the wood waste would be recycled into new products, 

used for resale or chipped and ground for reuse.  The advertisement further advised that waste wood, 

lumber, pallets, crates, tree prunings and branches were accepted.       

 

The sound generated by the various machines was clearly audible from Mr. Bonneville’s balcony.  Mr. 

Bonneville indicated the machinery started up at approximately 4:15 a.m. that morning and that this start 

up time is not uncommon.  Mr. Bonneville advised that normal start up time in the winter is 

approximately 6:00 a.m.  According to Mr. Bonneville and Mr. Tymchuk, the activities operate six (6) 

days a week Monday to Saturday with some occasional work on Sundays.    

 

Mr. Bonneville advised that since he moved into his house, the activities associated with the Russo 

properties have progressively diversified.  Mr. Bonneville and Mr. Tymchuk speculated that other  

non - farm uses were introduced to offset a decline in the sawmill business.          

 

 Following his meeting with Mr. Bonneville and Mr. Tymchuk, Mr. Fry went to the Russo properties 

where he met Mr. Manley McCorkell, Licensing and Bylaw Enforcement Supervisor, and Mr. Ted 

Komick, Bylaw Enforcement Officer, both with the City.  

 

…4 

20



Staff Report – June 6, 2000       #G-33263 

Page 4 

 

Mr. McCorkell, Mr. Komick and Mr. Fry entered the properties at the main entrance, proceeded across 

the scale and headed towards the west boundary of Lot 3.  While walking north along the driveway 

located on the west boundary of Lot 3 the participants noted four (4) small ponds had been dug 

immediately inside the east boundary of Lot 4.  The ponds were connected to east/west cross ditches 

running through Lots 1, 2 and 3 and appeared to be designed to capture surface water and leachate 

discharge from the various stockpiles of sawdust and wood debris.  The ponds were not visible from Mr. 

Bonneville’s house.  

 

At the north west corner of Lot 3 the participants proceeded east along the north boundaries of Lot 1, 

Lot 2 and Lot 3 to the north east corner of Lot 1.  Substantial wood waste stockpiles, wood waste 

processing and stockpiled wooden pallets were observed.  The participants then proceeded south 

through Lot  1.  The soils on Lot 1 have been substantially disturbed.  The area of Lot 1 not used in 

conjunction with the non - farm uses was a narrow strip along the east boundary and approximately the 

southern one-third where orchard trees remain.       

 

 Mr. Fry’s June 4, 1998 report was presented to the Commission for review.     

 

 On June 9, 1998 Mr. Fry wrote to the City proposing a meeting to discuss the situation and to  determine 

what action was needed to bring the activities into compliance with the Agricultural Land Commission 

Act and Soil Conservation Act.   

 

The meeting was held at the City’s municipal building on Wednesday, June 17, 1998 and was attended 

by : 

 

 Colin Fry,  Coordinator - Provincial Agricultural Land Commission 

 David Taylor,  Commissioner - Provincial Agricultural Land Commission 

 Jim Dalgarno,  Solid Waste Supervisor - City of Kelowna 

 

 John Vos,  Director of Utilities - City of Kelowna 

 Keith Skinner,  Inspection Services Manager - City of Kelowna 

 Manley McCorkell,  Supervisor of Licensing and By-Law Enforcement - City of Kelowna 

 Brian Henderson,  Solicitor - City of Kelowna 

 Mr. and Mrs. Russo 

 Tom Smithwick, Lawyer representing Mr. and Mrs. Russo 

         

The participants were provided with a copy of Mr. Fry’s June 4, 1998 report in advance of the meeting.  

At the meeting, Mr. Fry outlined the situation from the Commission’s perspective and explained how he 

arrived at the conclusions contained in his report which were.     

 

“Based on the provisions of section 21, I believe the non - farm uses have expanded and 

diversified without the necessary Commission approvals.  Not only has the physical area 

increased to incorporate Lot 1, Lot 2, Lot 3 and Lot 4 but the types of activities have also 

change.  From the Commission’s perspective, the only authorized activity is the sawmill 

activity as it existed six (6) months before December 21, 1972 as amended by Resolution 

#993/85.”  

 

At the meeting, Mr. and Mrs. Russo were asked to submit their written comments with respect to the 

matters discussed at the meeting, Mr. Fry’s report and any suggestions they may have to resolve the 

situation.  It was agreed the written comments would be submitted on or before July 10, 1998.     

 

 

21



Staff Report – June 6, 2000      #G-33263 

Page 5 

 

 On July 9, 1998 Mr. Smithwick wrote to the Commission on behalf of his clients.  Mr. Smithwick 

provided the following comments regarding the activities associated with the properties: 

 

- Our clients have operated a sawmill and wood storage facility on Lots 1 and 2 since the 1950’s.   

The most intensive operation of the sawmill itself has been within Lot 2.  Lot 1 has had more 

ancillary sawmill operations and wood storage on the property in addition to the operation of an 

orchard since the 1950’s.  Our position relating to these two said Lots is that there is a 

 non - conforming but legal status for the operation of a sawmill and wood storage on these lands. 

 

-  Our position as it relates to Lot 3 is that a special permit for the storage of logs, lumber and  

sawdust materials was granted by the Commission on October 15, 1985 and in that area of 

proposed storage outlined in the Exhibit attached to the said License for Operation.  Our client 

continues to use Lot 3 in this fashion. 

 

The representatives have expressed concern that some of the operations have expanded within the 

balance of Lot 3.  Our client is prepared to ensure that the storage on Lot 3 is only limited to that 

area outlined in the approved plan pending an application for increased storage on Lot 3.    

 

- With regard to Lot 4, the operation of this Lot is completely agricultural.  A hayfield is being  

utilized within the property.  In addition, holding ponds have been dug on the Lot in order to 

collect water to enable the operations on adjoining Lots to be more effective and, in addition,  in 

order to gather water for the purposes of spray irrigation of the hayfield. 

 

A copy of Mr. Smithwick’s July 9, 1998 letter was given to the Commission for review.  

 

 After receiving Mr. Smithwick’s July 9, 1998 letter, Mr. Fry telephoned Mr. Smithwick to discuss the 

situation.  Mr. Fry explained that the contents of the letter suggested Mr. and Mrs. Russo disagreed with 

his conclusion.  Mr. Smithwick indicated this was his clients’ position for the record but that he did not 

rule out further discussions to resolve the matter.    

 

 On July 15, 1998 Mr. Smithwick wrote to the Commission on a “Without Prejudice” basis. Mr. 

Smithwick provided the following comments: 

 

-    It is our client’s intention to cooperate with the Agricultural Land Commission and restructure  

his site to use only Lots 2 and 3.  However, he has some concerns respecting the use of Lots 2 and 

3 which are as follows: 

 

- In order to relocate the existing log yard, a wholesale site restructuring will be necessary. 

 

- The new log yard will be smaller than the existing yard.  In order for the operation to be   

successful, new logging procedures must be developed along with new log yard procedures.  This 

will tale both time and money.  These new procedures will require specialized equipment and 

training. 

 

- The excessive run-off experienced on Lot 1 will have to be analyzed to determine what costs  

there will be in order to make this land agriculturally suitable.  This analysis will determine what  

is the best crop to be planted. 

 

-  The border of Lot 1 is currently in the middle of our clients lumber yard.  What our client  

suggests is that the easternmost border of apple trees be considered the boundary and be extended 

through to Lot 1’s northern boundary.  Our client will then need assurance that this boundary will 

not be contested in the future.     

 

22



Staff Report – June 6, 2000       #G-33263 

Page 6 

 

A copy of Mr. Smithwick’s July 15, 1998 letter was given to the Commission for review.  

 

 On August 28, 1998 Mr. Smithwick wrote to the Commission advising that his clients have confirmed 

the use of both Lots 1 and 2 as a sawmill operation.   Attached to said letter was part of a purchase 

agreement dated January 1, 1961. 

 

 The Commission reviewed the file on September 22, 1998.   The Commission agreed with Mr. Fry’s  

conclusions and felt the situation must be brought into conformity with the Agricultural Land 

Commission Act and Soil Conservation Act.  However, prior to any further consideration with respect to 

a restructuring proposal, the Commission believed the owners should  remove or block the culverts 

located under the driveway along the west boundary of Lot 3 to stop water run-off from Lots 1, 2 and 3 

to the small retention ponds located on Lot 4 and to then fill in the ponds.      

 

Following completion of the above, the Commission was prepared to consider, on a “Without 

Prejudice” basis, a restructuring plan for the sawmill and related activities, the wood waste recycling 

facility and the pallet recycling operation, including an estimated time frame to complete said 

restructuring.  Since the 1985 review identified an overall sawmill and storage area of 5.7 ha (i.e.:  Lot 2 

- 4.0 ha and Lot 3 - 1.7 ha), the maximum area the owners could use in developing their restructuring 

plan was 5.7 ha.    

 

The Commission did not restrict the owners’ creativity or options by confining the restructuring possibilities 

to the existing lot configurations and as such the proposed industrial site could be located anywhere within 

the combined 11.7 ha of  Lots 1, 2 and 3.  However, if the restructuring proposal involved a subdivision it 

must not result in an increased number of lots and the Commission would ultimately prefer less lots.  For 

example, one possibility was to create a 5.7 ha sawmill lot and to  

 

consolidate the balance of the Lots 1, 2 and 3 into a  6.0 ha lot which was reclaimed to an agricultural 

standard.     

 

Furthermore, the restructuring proposal was to include buffering provisions such as fencing, vegetative 

screening, etc. to reduce, if not eliminate, impacts on adjacent agricultural lands.    Since such a plan 

would require some time to prepare, the Commission gave the owners until January 15, 1999 to submit 

the restructuring plan.    

 

 The Commission final decision on this application to date (currently held in abeyance pending receipt 

of the current application – 33262)  reads as follows: 

 

“That the Commission issue orders pursuant to section 52 of the Agricultural Land Commission Act and 

section 6 of the Soil Conservation Act as follows: 

 

1) the Commission, pursuant to section 52(1)(b) and (c) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act,  

orders the owners and occupant to stop importing and processing waste material, to remove all 

machinery, structures, buildings and any other facilities associated with the waste processing 

activity and to remove all stockpiled waste material from the properties.    Furthermore, the owners 

and occupant are to cease all other non - farm activities on the properties that exceed the level of 

non - farm use permitted by the Commission by Resolution #993/85.   The only permitted use is 

the sawmill activity on Lot 2 and a 1.7 ha portion of Lot 3.   Lot 1, the 1.3 ha portion of Lot 3 and 

the portion of Lot 4 used for unauthorized non - farm uses are to be reclaimed to an agricultural 

standard that is equal to or better than that which existed prior to the owner and occupant 

undertaking the unauthorized non - farm uses.     

 

23



Staff Report – June 6, 2000      #G-33263 

Page 7 

 

 

The owners and occupant must post an Irrevocable Letter of Credit in the amount of $500,000 to 

ensure compliance.   The Irrevocable Letter of Credit must be received within fourteen (14) days 

from the date of notification. 

 

The removal of all machinery, structures, buildings and any other facilities associated with the 

waste processing activity, stockpiled waste material and the reclamation of the properties must be 

completed within sixty (60) days from the date of notification. 

 

2) the Commission, acting pursuant to sections 6(f) and (g) of the Soil Conservation Act, orders the  

owner and operator to stop placing waste material on the properties and to remove all stockpiled 

waste material from the properties. 

 

The removal of all stockpiled waste material must be completed within sixty (60) days from the 

date of notification.” 

 

RELEVANT &/OR PREVIOUS APPLICATIONS 

 

1)  Application #  19519-1Applicant: Luigi & Marisa Russo Decision Date: 09/22/1998 

 Proposal: To consider enforcement options as sawmill has expanded and diversified without 

Commission approval. 

 Decision:  
 

 

2)  Application # 19519-2Applicant: Luigi & Marisa Russo Decision Date: 04/19/1999 

 Proposal: Enforcement.   Unauthorized expansion of industrial facilities. 

 Decision: Issued order pursuant to section 52 of the Agricultural Land Commission Act. 

 

 

3)  Application # 19519-3Applicant: Luigi & Marisa Russo Decision Date: 04/19/1999 

 Proposal:  Enforcement.  Unauthorized placement of fill. 

 Decision:  Issued order pursuant to the Soil Conservation Act 

 

 

STAFF COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION:   

 

Allow industrial use on Lots 2 and 3 to consist of sawmilling, woodwaste recycling/composting, and pallet 

recycling only, provided: 

 

1. all industrial use of Lot 1 to be discontinued within one year; 

 

2. Lot 1 to be completely reclaimed to an agricultural standard acceptable to the Commission within three 

months following discontinuance of the industrial activity; 

 

3. that the reclamation of Lot 1 be directed and monitored by a professional agrologist/reclamation 

specialist; 

 

4. that the industrial area be fenced along the entire east, west and north boundaries 

 

Furthermore, it is recommended that the use of compost and the turf farming aspect of the proposal be 

tabled pending receipt of the additional information.  Staff also recommends that the Commission not 

endorse the use of the compost material in the ALR in the absence of the additional information. 

 

24



 

 Application # 21-G-KELO-2000-33263-0  

  Resolution  #437/2000  

 

 

MINUTES OF THE LAND RESERVE COMMISSION 

 

Minutes of a meeting held by the Land Reserve Commission (the “Commission”) held on July 27, 2000   at 

the Commission’s offices at 4940 Canada Way, Burnaby, B.C.  

 

 

Present: M. Thompson Vice Chair 

 J. Dukhia Commissioner 

 J. Ingram Commissioner 

 

 

Absent: None 

 

Staff Present: Vickie Shillington and Colin Fry 

 

Consideration of Application #21-G-KELO-2000-33263-0  (Russo) - Application under section 22(1) of the 

Agricultural Land Reserve Act.    

 

On-Site Inspection 

 

On May 23, 2000 a site visit was conducted.  In attendance were Commissioners Thompson and Ingram and 

staff members Vickie Shillington, Tony Pellett, Ross Blackwell and Julie Glover.    

 

Staff Report  - Luigi and Marisa Russo 

 

Staff member Colin Fry presented Ross Blackwell’s report dated June 6, 2000.   The file material was 

reviewed. 

  

Meeting Details  

 

A meeting was held at the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries office, Room 200 – 1690 Powick 

Road, Kelowna, on June 21, 2000.   In attendance were: 

 

 Commissioner Thompson 

 Commissioner Ingram 

 Commissioner Dukhia 

 Mr. Tony Pellett, LRC Staff 

 Mr. Ross Blackwell, LRC Staff 

 Ms. Vickie Shillington, LRC Staff 

 Mr. Stan Combs, Land Use Agrologist, Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries 

 Mr. and Mrs. Russo 

 Mr. Robert Russo, applicants’ son 

 Mr. Don Fraser, Executive – Interior Lumber Manufacturers’ Association. 

 Mr. Tom Smithwick, Lawyer – Porter Ramsay, Barristers and Solicitors, representing the Russos 

 Mr. Dick Main,  neighbour of the Russos  

 Mr. Christopher Harvey,  Lawyer – Fasken Martineau DuMoulin, Barristers and Solicitors, 

Representing Mr. Main 

 

…2 

25



Page 2          #437/2000 

 

Mr. Smithwick provided an overview of the history of his clients’ use of the properties and the proposal.   

The Russos participated in a dialogue with the Commissioners.  Mr. Harvey briefly outlined his client’s 

concerns regarding the industrial use in proximity to his property.    

 

Discussion:  

 

The Commission repeated its earlier position that it believes the current industrial activities are inconsistent 

with the Agricultural Land Reserve Act and Soil Conservation Act and is satisfied that neither the existing 

facility nor the diversified uses were in place at least six (6) months prior to December 21, 1972.  This 

being said, the Commission acknowledged the lengthy history of a sawmill activity and the fact that it 

granted permission in 1985 to expand the footprint of the sawmill facility.  The Commission agreed with the 

staff recommendation to conditionally allow industrial use on Lots 2 and 3.  

 

However, the Commission did express uncertainty with the level of knowledge about the feedstocks being 

used to create the compost, the quality of the compost and the turf farming aspect of the proposal.   For 

example, the Commission does not support the use of construction / demolition debris (including wood 

products from such sources) as an appropriate feedstock in creating a soil amendment for use on ALR land,   

but the applicants indicate “Clean Wood” consists of material derived from construction sites.   The 

Commission was also concerned that material coming from construction / demolition sites could quite 

possibly contain chemical constituents from glues, adhesives, preservatives and foreign matter such as nails, 

etc.   The Commission noted that a magnet is used to extract nails.    

 

Furthermore, while the Commission acknowledged some testing of the compost has been done it was not 

satisfied with the level of detail regarding the scientific/technical information of the end product.    To 

properly assess the material it will be necessary for the applicants to retain the services of a qualified 

consultant to conduct a site inspection, develop the parameters for testing (including the sampling method 

based on the types and volume of material), conduct sampling and analysis of the material and to provide a 

detailed report on the sampling methodology and test results.  

 

With regards to the turf farm the Commission feels a site assessment should be conducted by a professional 

agrologist specializing in soils for the purpose of determining baseline soils data.  The agrologist report 

should then go on to describe how the mineral soils will be preserved, and replaced if necessary, and the 

need for organic material including suggested loading rates.    

 

 

IT WAS 

MOVED BY: Commissioner  Ingram  

SECONDED BY: Commissioner  Dukhia 

 

 

THAT the Staff Report be received and permission be granted to use Lots 2 and 3 for sawmilling, 

woodwaste recycling/composting, and pallet recycling provided: 

 

1) all industrial use of Lot 1 is discontinued within one (1) year from the date of notification 

2) the applicants submit a reclamation plan for Lot 1 prepared by a professional agrologist 

specializing in soils within three (3) months from the date of notification 

3) Lot 1 is reclaimed to an agricultural standard acceptable to the Commission within three (3) 

months following discontinuance of the industrial activity 

4) reclamation of Lot 1 is overseen and monitored by a professional agrologist specializing in soils.  

5) a professional agrologist provides a closure report upon completion of reclamation  

6) the industrial area is to be fenced with a Schedule D.6: chain link fence along the entire east, west 

and north boundaries.   The west boundary (ie: the west boundary of Lot 3) is to be fenced, without 

gates, within three (3) months from the date of notification.  The Commission will defer the 

balance of fencing until the industrial use of Lot 1 is discontinued.    

7) no compost material is used in the ALR until sanctioned by the Commission.  

 

26



Page 3          #437/2000 

 

 

Furthermore, that the Commission table further consideration on the turf farming aspect of the proposal and 

the use of the compost because of the uncertainty about the feedstocks being used and the quality of the 

compost.    While the Commission acknowledged some testing of the compost had been done it was not 

satisfied with the level of detail regarding the scientific/technical information of the end product.    The 

Commission requires the applicants to retain the services of a qualified consultant to conduct a site 

inspection, develop the parameters for testing (including the sampling method based on the types and 

volume of material), conduct sampling and analysis of the material and to provide a detailed report on the 

sampling methodology and test results.     

 

Regarding the turf farm,  the Commission requires a site assessment conducted by a professional agrologist, 

specializing in soils, to determine baseline soils data.  The agrologist report must also address how the 

indigenous mineral soils will be preserved, or replaced if necessary, as well as the need for organic material 

including suggested loading rates.    

 

The Commission will not consider the use of the compost on ALR lands or consider the turf proposal 

without the aforementioned information.     

 

This approval is also subject to compliance with all other legislation. 

 

 

 

 

   Carried. 

27



 

 

 

 

 

August 24, 2000      Reply to the attention of Colin Fry 

       Acting Director – Regional Operations 

 

Luigi and Marisa Russo 

982 Old Vernon Road,   

Kelowna, B.C.  V1X  6T8 

 

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Russo: 

 

Re: Application #G-33263 

 Property Descriptions: 

1) Lot 1, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546, Except that 

Part Lying South and East of Government Road as shown on Plan 546   

2)    Lot 2, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546  

3)    Lot 3, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546  

4)    Lot 4, Section 1, Township 23, Osoyoos Division Yale District, Plan 546  

 

As you may be aware, pursuant to the Land Reserve Commission Act, as of April 1, 2000, the Land Reserve 

Commission replaced the Provincial Agricultural Land Commission and the Forest Land Commission and, 

under the Agricultural Land Reserve Act, Soil Conservation Act and Forest Land Reserve Act, is carrying 

out the powers and duties formerly carried out by the Provincial Agricultural Land Commission and Forest 

Land Commission.   

 

After thoroughly reviewing the file material the Commission once again concluded that the current 

industrial activities were inconsistent with the Agricultural Land Reserve Act and Soil Conservation Act and 

was satisfied that neither the existing facility nor the diversified uses were in place at least six (6) months 

prior to December 21, 1972.  This being said, the Commission acknowledged the lengthy history of a 

sawmill activity and the fact that it granted permission in 1985 to expand the footprint of the sawmill 

facility.  

 

With this in mind, the Commission advises that pursuant to section 22(1) of the Agricultural Land Reserve 

Act, by Resolution #437/2000, it has granted permission to use all of Lots 2 and 3 for sawmilling, 

woodwaste recycling/composting, and pallet recycling.   The approval is subject to the following 

conditions: 

 

1) All industrial use of Lot 1 is to be discontinued within one (1) year from the date of this letter. 

2) You must submit a reclamation plan for Lot 1 prepared by a professional agrologist, specializing in 

soils, within three (3) months from the date of this letter. 

3) Lot 1 is to be reclaimed to an agricultural standard acceptable to the Commission within three (3) 

months following discontinuance of the industrial activity. 

4) Reclamation of Lot 1 is to be overseen and monitored by a professional agrologist specializing in 

soils.  The agrologist is required to submit a closure report upon completion of reclamation.  

6) The industrial area is to be fenced with a Schedule D.6: chain - link fence along the entire east, 

west and north boundaries.   The west boundary (ie: the west boundary of Lot 3) is to be fenced, 

without gates, within three (3) months from the date of this letter.  The Commission will defer the 

balance of fencing until the industrial use of Lot 1 is discontinued.   (Schedule D.6 Fencing 

Specifications are attached) 

7) No compost material is to be used in the ALR until sanctioned by the Commission.  

 

 

   …2 

28



L & M Russo – August 24, 2000 

Page 2 

 

The Commission tabled further consideration on the turf farming aspect of the proposal pending receipt of  

a site assessment conducted by a professional agrologist, specializing in soils, to determine baseline soils 

data.  The agrologist’s report must also address how the indigenous mineral soils will be preserved, or 

replaced if necessary, as well as the need for organic material, including suggested loading rates.    

 

The Commission also tabled further consideration on the use of the compost in the ALR because of the 

uncertainty about the feedstocks being used and the quality of the compost.    For example, the Commission 

does not support the use of construction / demolition debris (including wood products from such sources) as 

an appropriate feedstock in creating a soil amendment for use on ALR land.  However you indicated “Clean 

Wood” consists of material derived from construction sites.   The Commission believed material coming 

from construction / demolition sites could quite possibly contain chemical constituents from glues, 

adhesives, preservatives and foreign matter such as nails, etc.   The Commission noted that a magnet is 

being used to extract nails.    

 

While the Commission acknowledged some testing of the compost had been done it was not satisfied with 

the level of detail regarding the scientific/technical information of the compost.    If you wish to use the 

compost in the ALR you must retain the services of a qualified consultant to conduct a site inspection, 

develop the parameters for testing (including the sampling method based on the types and volume of 

material), conduct sampling and analysis of the material and to provide a detailed report on the results.     

 

 

The approval granted herein in no way relieves the owner or occupier of the responsibility of adhering to 

any other enactment or legislation which applies to the lands including zoning, subdivision, or other land 

use bylaws, and decisions of authorities having jurisdiction.   The Commission suggests you to check with 

the City of Kelowna in this regard. 

 

Please quote the above application number in any future correspondence. 

 

Yours truly, 

 

LAND RESERVE COMMISSION 

 

 

per: 

 

 

A. Chambers, Chair 

 

cc: Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks – Penticton 

  Attention:  Mr. Peter Jarman 

 Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fish – Kelowna 

  Attention:  Mr. Helmut Arndt,  District Agrologist 

 City of Kelowna,    Planning and Development Services 

  Attention:  Ms. Shelley Gambacort, Planning and Development Officer  

 Porter Ramsay   (File:   57183-1-44) 

  #200 – 1465 Ellis Street,  Kelowna, B.C.  V1Y 2A3 

Attention:  Mr. Tom Smithwick 

 Fasken Martineau DuMoulin   (File:  MAI00054) 

  2100 – 1075 West Georgia Street,  Vancouver, B.C.  V6E 3G2 

  Attention:  Mr. Christopher Harvey 

 LRC File #G-19519 

 

 

CF/lv/Encl./I:33263c1.doc 

29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
 

Date: November 12, 2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: Agriculture Advisory Committee 

From: Community Planning Department (TY) 

Application: Z15-0045 & TA15-0010 Owner: Eva Linttell 

Address: 2075 KLO Road Applicant: Tyler Linttell 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: REP – Resource Protection Area  (ALR) 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: A1t – Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation 

 

1.0 Purpose 

The applicant is applying to rezone the subject property from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the 
A1t – Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation zone to develop ten agri-tourist RV sites.  
The proposed application will require a Text Amendment to Zoning Bylaw No 8000 to amend the 
number of allowable RV sites on the property from five to ten, and a Development Variance 
Permit Application to vary the maximum distance the recreational vehicle (RV) campsites may be 
from the principal residence from 30.0 m to 180.0 m.  

2.0 Proposal 

The applicant is applying to rezone their property in order to facilitate a 10 unit Agri-tourist 
recreational vehicle (RV) site as noted in their letter of rational.  The letter attached states: 

 The agri-tourist accommodation would be accessory to future proposed agriculture as 
designed on the proposed Site Plan. 

 The property currently has farm status. 

 RV sites would be seasonal. 

 The agri-tourist accommodation does not exceed 5% of the parcel. 

 Bathroom facilities would be provided. 

 A Level 5 landscape buffer would be provided.  

Staff notes that this application at this time is for a rezoning only.  

  

57



15-0045 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Context 

3.1 Neighbourhood Context 

The subject property is located between KLO Road and Mission Creek in the South Pandosy / KLO 
Sector of Kelowna. The subject parcel is 5.76 hectares (14.24 acres) and the site elevation varies 
between 353.5 m and 355.0 m. The soils in this area are Class 4 with improved ratings of Class 2 
according to the land inventory (see attached Canada Land Inventory information). Overall soil 
limitations include “excess water” and fertility in small areas.  

Neighbourhood Context Map 

 
Mission Creek Greenway runs along the south property line of the subject parcel. Land on the 
subject parcel within the Mission Riparian Area is not able to be developed on as shown in the 
Riparian Management Area of the Mission Creek Map in this report. The existing driveway access 
off of KLO Road will serve as access to the proposed RV campsites.  

2075 KLO Road is in the Agricultural Land Reserve, designated REP Resource Protection Area in 
Kelowna’s OCP and outside of the Permanent Growth Boundary.  

3.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the south side of KLO Road, between Benvoulin and Spiers 
Road. Mission Creek including the Mission Creek Greenway runs along the south property line of 
the subject property.  

3.3 Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use Future Land Use 

North A1 Single Family Dwelling Properties S2RES 

East A1 Single Family Dwelling REP 

South 
A1 
RR3 

Mission Creek Greenway  
Single Family Dwelling Properties 
Single Family Dwelling with Hay 

PARK 
S2RES 
REP 

West A1 Single Family Dwelling with Vegetable & Truck, Hay REP 

58



15-0045 – Page 3 

 
 

 

Parcel Summary: Parcel Size: 5.76 ha (14.24 ac), Elevation: 353.5 m to 355.0 m  

Subject Property Map: 2075 KLO Road 

 

Existing Agricultural & Non-agricultural Use Map 

Agriculture: Hay 
~ 3.1 ha (7.7 ac) 

Tennis Court & landscape buffer 
0.1 ha (0.3 ac) 
 
Single family dwelling & detached 
accessory building with office. 0.1 
ha (0.3 ac) 
 
Ornamental pond, lawn & 
landscape buffer 0.3 ha (0.7 ac) 
 
 
Barn  
 
 
 

59



15-0045 – Page 4 

 
 

3.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA A1t ZONE REQUIREMENTS EXISTING PROPOSED 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Minimum Lot Area 2.0 ha / 20,000 m2 5.76 ha / 57, 627 m2 5.76 ha / 57,627 m2 

Minimum Lot Width 40.0 m 246.0 m  246.0 m 

Development Regulations 
Maximum Site Coverage  10% 1,370 m2 = 2% 1,370 m2 = 2% 

Maximum Height 9.5 m / 2 ½ storeys 2 storeys 2 storeys 

Minimum Front Yard 6.0 m 93.0 m 93.0 m 

Minimum Side Yard (west) 3.0 m > 150.0 m > 150.0 m 

Minimum Side Yard (east) 3.0 m 8.5 m 8.5 m 

Minimum Rear Yard 10.0 m 22.0 m (barn) 
22.0 m (office & 

washrooms) 

Other Regulations 
Maximum setback from 

Mission Creek 
50.0 m ~29.0 m (barn) 

~29.0 m (office & 
washrooms) 

Homeplating requirements 
Non-agricultural footprint 

maximum area 

60 m x 60 m = 3,600 m2  
Located adjacent to a 

property line  

8,126 m2 

Adjacent to a 
property line 

11,726 m2 

Maximum Number of Agri-
tourist Accommodations  

5 units na 10 units  

Agri-tourist Accommodation  
Within 30 m of principal 

residence 
na ~ 180 m  

 Indicates a requested text amendment to the maximum number of agri-tourist accommodations. 

 Indicates a requested variance to the maximum distance from a principal residence. 

A Riparian Area Setback requirement for Mission Creek runs adjacent to the south property line 
of the subject parcel. As the parcel is upstream of Gordon Drive, the Minimum Riparian 
Management Area is 50 m, measured perpendicularly inland from the top of bank, top of ravine, 
or natural boundary of Mission Creek.  

Mission Creek Riparian Management Area Map  

60



15-0045 – Page 5 

 
 

Topography Map 

 

ALR Properties Map 

 
  

61



15-0045 – Page 6 

 
 

3.5 Future Land Use 

The subject property has a future land use of REP – Resource Protection, which is adjacent on 
both sides. Park – Major Park / Open Space (Public) exists to the south and S2RES – Single / Tow 
Unit Residential to the north.  

Future Land Use Map 

  

Current Land Use Map 

MISSION 
CREEK 
GOLF COURSE 

ALR 

SINGLE FAMILY 

DWELLINGS 

ALR 

ALR 

ALR 

SINGLE FAMILY 

DWELLINGS 
SINGLE 

FAMILY 

DWELLINGS 

COMMERCIAL 

PARK 

PARK 

62



15-0045 – Page 7 

 
 

4.0 Agriculture 

4.1 Current and Historical Land Use 

The subject property has a current land use of an alfalfa “forage crop”. The owners purchased 
the property in 2003 and currently lease the hay operation on approximately 2.9 ha (7.40 ac) of 
the property. The property has farm status.  

4.2 Agricultural Capability  

The Agricultural Land Capability of the subject property is rated at a Class 4W for 63% of the 
property, and Class 5W for 32% of the property.  The classification ‘W’ indicates that there is a 
limitation due to the occurrence of excess water during the growing period. The remaining 5% of 
the property is a mix of Class 4A and ‘X’, The classification ‘A’ indicates that there is a limitation 
due to soil moisture deficiency where crops are adversely affected by droughtiness. The ‘X’ 
classification indicates that there are limitations due to two or more adverse soil characteristics.  

The improved rating for the property is 62% Class 2, 26% Class 3WF, 5% Class 3F, 5% Class X, and 
2% Class 3.  Class 1 – 3 is considered prime agricultural land and relatively rare in Kelowna.  Class 
2 has minor limitations that require good ongoing management practices or slightly restrict the 
range of crops.  They are deep, hold moisture well and can be managed with little difficulty.  

Class ‘3WF’ indicates occasional occurrence of excess water during the growing period causing 
minor crop damage, but no crop loss, or hte occurrence of excess water during the winter 
months, adversely affecting perennial crops.   

Class ‘3F’ includes soils with moderate nutrient holding ability, high acidity or alkalinity and/or 
high levels of carbonates. Fertility status does not restrict the range of crops.  

Class ‘X’ includes soils with two or more unfavorable growing characteristics.  

4.3 Soil Capability 

The soils on the property are 63% Guisachan, 30% Tanaka, 4% Dyke, and 2% Cameron Lake. 
Guisachan and Tanaka soils are common within the floodplain of Mission Creek, and often occur 
together, with Tanaka soils occurring in depressions. Guisachan soils are moderately coarse 
textured, stone free, typically 30 – 100 cm deep and overlay course fluvial fan deposits. The 
textures are silty and sandy loam. Groundwater is near the surface during the winter an 
decreases through the year, with the lowest during the autumn. The soils are suited to crops that 
are not sensitive to occasional high groundwater. These crops range from vegetable crops to hay 
and pasture.  

Tanaka soils are moderately textured, gravel free fluvial fan deposits. The textures range from 
sandy loam to silty loam. They are poorly drained, and have a high water holding capacity. The 
water table fluctuates between the surface and 1.5 metre depth.  Depressions are susceptible to 
flooding. They are limited to agricultural uses that can tolerate high groundwater. Suitable crops 
include pasture and hay, turf, field crops and vegetables.   

  

63



15-0045 – Page 8 

 
 

5.0 Public Notification 

The applicant has complied with Council Policy 367, Public Notification & Consultation in the 
form of neighbourhood circulation and a Public Information Session.  

 Circulated information to neighbours August 26, 2015 

 Held Public Information Session September 22, 2015 

6.0 Current Development Policies  

6.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Farm Protection Development Permit 

Justification.1 Agriculture is a prominent land use in Kelowna and a vital component of the local 
economy. As growth continues in the City, the potential for land use conflicts within and 
adjacent to agricultural areas increases, necessitating the application of guidelines with respect 
to subdivision design, site layout, landscaping, and buffering. 

Objectives 2 Protect farm land and farm operations;  

Minimize the conflicts created by activities designated as farm use by ALC regulation and non-
farm uses within agricultural areas.  

Farm Protection Guidelines 

Homeplate 3  On agricultural lands, where appropriate, locate all buildings and structures, 
including farm help housing and farm retail sales, within a contiguous area (i.e. homeplate). 
Exceptions may be permitted where the buildings or structures are for farm use only; 
 
Landscape buffer 4 On agricultural and non-agricultural lands, establish and maintain a 
landscape buffer along the agricultural and/or property boundary, except where development is 
for a permitted farm use that will not encourage public attendance and does not concern 
additional residences (including secondary suites), in accordance with the following criteria: 

Agricultural Land Use Policies 

Protect Agricultural Land 5 Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and by 
protecting agricultural lands from 
development, except as otherwise noted in the City of Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that 
the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, regardless of parcel size. 
 
Urban Uses 6 Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent Growth 
Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on agricultural lands. 
  

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, (Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, (Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines Chapter). 
3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 1.2 (Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines Chapter). 
4 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 1.3 (Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines Chapter). 
5 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.33.1 (Development Process Chapter). 
6 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.33.3 (Development Process Chapter). 

64



15-0045 – Page 9 

 
 

Agri-tourism, Wineries, Cideries, Retail Sales 7  

Support agri-tourism uses that can be proven to be in aid of and directly associated with 
established farm operations. Permit wineries, cideries and farm retail sales (inside and outside 
the ALR) only where consistent with existing ALC policies and regulations. 

Homeplating 8  Locate buildings and structures, including farm help housing and farm retail sales 
area and structures, on agricultural parcels in close proximity to one another and where 
appropriate, near the existing road frontage. The goal should be to maximize use of existing 
infrastructure and reduce impacts on productive agricultural lands. 

Land Use Definitions  

Resource Protection Area 9 Rural land preserved for agricultural, environmental and recreational 
purposes, including the ALR, other resource lands with environmental value and protected 
natural open spaces, including private open space, steeply sloped lands, Natural 
Environment/Hazardous Condition DP Areas, and other natural features such as watercourses, 
water bodies, wetlands, plant and wildlife habitat, and significant aesthetic value. Allowable 
uses would be agriculture / resource use including farming, forestry, wood lots and silviculture as 
well as public or private open space on lands considered environmentally sensitive or hazardous 
(steep slopes). Generally land areas within this designation (whether they are within the 
permanent growth boundary or not) will not be supported for exclusion from the ALR or for more 
intensive development than that allowed under current zoning regulations, except in specific 
circumstances where the City of Kelowna will allow exceptions to satisfy civic objectives for the 
provision of park/recreation uses. Minimum parcel size for ALR land is 2.0 ha and non-ALR land is 
4.0 ha as indicated in the A1 Agricultural Zone of Zoning Bylaw 8000. 
 
Permanent Growth boundary 10 Lands within the permanent growth boundary may be considered 
for urban uses within the 20 year planning horizon ending 2030. Lands designated as Future Urban 
Reserve within the permanent growth boundary may be considered for urban uses beyond 2030. 
Lands outside the permanent growth boundary will not be supported for urban uses. 
 
Chapter 5 – Development Process 

Focus development to designated growth areas 11. Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as 
identified on Map 4.1 and Map 5.2. Support development of property outside the Permanent 
Growth Boundary for more intensive uses only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future 
Land Use designations in place as of initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except as per Council’s 
specific amendment of this policy. Resource Protection Area designated properties not in the ALR 
and outside the Permanent Growth Boundary will not be supported for subdivision below parcel 
sizes of 4.0 ha (10 acres). The Permanent Growth Boundary may be reviewed as part of the next 
major OCP update. 
  

                                                
7 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.33.5 (Development Process Chapter). 
8 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.34.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
9 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, (Future Land Use Chapter). 
10 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, (Future Land Use Chapter). 
11 

City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

65



15-0045 – Page 10 

 
 

6.2 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan 

Objective12: Sensitively integrate new development with heritage resources and existing urban, 
agricultural and rural areas. 
Action towards this objective13: Evaluate the effectiveness of City policies and bylaws in 
preserving agricultural lands. 

6.3 Ministry of Agriculture 

Regulating Agri-trouism and Farm Retail Sales in the Agricultural Land Reserve.  Discussion 
Paper and Proposed Minister’s Bylaw Standards. 14 

The Criteria Development Process 
This paper explores and proposes land use regulation and policy guidance for local governments 
to address agri-tourism and farm retail sales issues in their communities, while recognizing these 
uses are permitted (with exceptions) within the ALR. 

Context  
Sometimes there may be conflicting community views on what actually constitutes agri-tourism 
activities, and what ‘accessory’, ‘seasonal’, and ‘temporary’ within this context really mean. 

Current Policy, Legislation and Regulation 
The intent of this proposed Bylaw Standard is to provide greater clarity on what constitutes agri-
tourism, agri-tourism accommodation, farm retail sales, and the definitions of temporary and 
seasonal. 

Proposed Set of Criteria 
Part three introduces a set of criteria in which local governments would be encouraged to 
consider when developing or amending their own bylaws on agri-tourism, agri-tourism 
accommodation and farm retail sales. A rationale is provided for why certain criteria provisions 
should be introduced and a proposed list is summarized of criteria and definitions. 

Proposed Definitions 

Accessory (agri-tourism)  
means that the agri-tourism is subordinate to the active farm operation on the same lot. Agri-
tourism uses and activities only augment a farmer’s regular farm income, not exceed or replace 
it. 

Agri-tourism  
is travel that combines agricultural or rural settings with products of agricultural operations – all 
within a tourism experience that is paid for by visitors. It is a tourist activity, service or facility 
which is accessory to a farm operation, as defined in the Farm Practices Protection (Right to 
Farm) Act, where the land is classified as a farm under the Assessment Act; and, where the farm 
is in active operation each year. 

 

 

  

                                                
12 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan. 2004. P. 7. 
13 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan. 2004. P. 29. 
14 Ministry of Agriculture, Regulating Agri-tourism and Farm Retail Sales in the Agricultural Land Reserve, Discussion 
Paper and Proposed Minister’s Bylaw Standards. September 14, 2015. 

66



15-0045 – Page 11 

 
 

Accessory Farm Activity 
Table 1. Examples of Agri-Tourism and Farm Incomes  

Column A Column B 

Agri-tourism Income  Farm Income  

Entry or participation fees, tour fees  Primary agricultural production income  

Fees for tours, services and workshops related to 
the farm operation  

Value-added operations: processing of own 
farm products  

Retail sales of off-farm or non-farm products  Retail sales of own farm products  

Agri-tourism accommodation charges   

 

To be considered accessory, the annual income from agri-tourism [Column A] must be no more 
than the annual regular farm income [Column B]. The ALC may allow a larger proportion of agri-
tourism activity on a farm, if the farmer applies for a non-farm use approval.  

Examples include a farmer intending to regularly host special events such as commercial 
weddings, conferences or an annual music festival. A local government could decide whether to 
support those commercial activities in its zoning if it is authorized by the ALC. 

Agri-tourism Temporary and Seasonal Use in the ALR 
Local governments should regard agri-tourism uses as a temporary and seasonal use. See the 
definitions for guidance on defining these terms. 

Agri-tourism Accommodation 
On smaller lots, a local government may wish to set a lower number of allowed sleeping units;  

Site Layout for Agri-tourism Activities  
Site coverage and setbacks for agri-tourism structures must follow the standards for farm 
structures provided in Part 2 of the “Guide for Bylaw Development in Farming Areas”. 

6.4 Suburban and Rural Planning 

The intent of the A1t is to provide assistance to bona fide farmers who wish to provide seasonal 
accommodation proven to be in aid of and directly associated with established farm operations. 
The proposed application does not have the background of an established farm that provides 
interaction with local residents or visitors to Kelowna.   

The existing non-farm structures and uses on the property do not adhere to homeplate principles. 
The proposed 10 RV sites which do not meet homeplate principles or A1t zone regulations would 
increase the existing non-conformity.   

The agricultural and soil capability of the subject property do not appear to be suitable for fruit 
trees that are the substantial portion of the agriculture proposed on the subject property.    

7.0 Technical Comments  

The referral comments from external agencies and City departments are noted in the sections 
below.  

  

67



15-0045 – Page 12 

 
 

7.1 Agricultural Land Commission 

Bonding for future agriculture is not an appropriate measure for ensuring agricultural 
development occurs on the site. Agricultural development must precede the request for agri-
tourist accommodation.  

7.2 Development Engineering Department 

The proposed development will increase the demand on the existing water and sewer system.  
Water and sewer fees (Equivalent Dwelling Unit fees) are required to be paid as well as 
increasing size of each connection as required. Only one water and one sewer connection to City 
services are permitted. Safety is a concern with traffic sightlines from the current driveway on to 
KLO Road.  

7.3 Fire Department 

Emergency vehicle access review will be required at time of Building Permit, no wood burning 
fire pits are permitted.  

7.4 FortisBC Inc – Electric 

The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any change to the subject property’s 
existing service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required.  
 

8.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:   August 14, 2015  
Date Public Consultation Completed:  September 22, 2015 
  
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Tracey Yuzik, Planner 
 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Todd Cashin, Suburban and Rural Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 
Proposed Site Plan 
Soil Classification Table 
Agricultural Capability Table 
  

68



 
 

Soil Classification 2075 KLO Rd 
The soil classification for the subject property is as defined below 

Portion of site  Soil Type Description 

4.9 hectares are 70% GN & 30% TA 

 70%  GN -  Land: nearly level to gently sloping fluvial deposits 
Texture: 30 – 100 cm depth of medium textured, stone free 
veneer, which overlies gravelly fluvial fan and deltaic deposits.  
Drainage: poorly drained, moderately pervious, and have high 
water storage capacity. Groundwater is near the surface during 
winter and spring and recedes by autumn. 
Classification: Orthic Humic Gleysols.  

 30% TA -  Land: nearly level to gently sloping fluvial deposits.  
Texture: sandy loam to silt loam, with subsoil textures that are 
sandy loam or gravelly dandy loam. 
Drainage: poorly drained, moderately pervious, and have high 
water storage capacity. Groundwater fluctuates between the 
surface and 1.5 metre depth. Depressions are subject to flooding. 
Classification: Rego Humic Gleysols. 

0.3 hectares are 100% MLD 

 100% TA -  Land: nearly level to gently sloping fluvial deposits.  
Texture: sandy loam to silt loam, with subsoil textures that are 
sandy loam or gravelly dandy loam. 
Drainage: poorly drained, moderately pervious, and have high 
water storage capacity. Groundwater fluctuates between the 
surface and 1.5 metre depth. Depressions are subject to flooding. 
Classification: Rego Humic Gleysols. 

0.2 hectares are 80% GN & 20% TA 

 80% GN- Land: nearly level to gently sloping fluvial deposits 
Texture: 30 – 100 cm depth of medium textured, stone free 
veneer, which overlies gravelly fluvial fan and deltaic deposits.  
Drainage: poorly drained, moderately pervious, and have high 
water storage capacity. Groundwater is near the surface during 
winter and spring and recedes by autumn. 
Classification: Orthic Humic Gleysols. 

 20% TA -  Land: nearly level to gently sloping fluvial deposits.  
Texture: sandy loam to silt loam, with subsoil textures that are 
sandy loam or gravelly dandy loam. 
Drainage: poorly drained, moderately pervious, and have high 
water storage capacity. Groundwater fluctuates between the 
surface and 1.5 metre depth. Depressions are subject to flooding. 
Classification: Rego Humic Gleysols. 

0.2 hectares are 100% MLD - Dykes 

 100% MLD -  Land: not considered to be “soil”  
Texture: gravel to large rock 
 

0.1 hectares are 100% CN – Cameron Lake Soils 

 100% CN Land: nearly level, very gentle sloping fluvial fan deposits. 
Texture: sandy loam or loamy sand textures.  
Drainage: imperfect to moderately pervious. 
Classification: Gleyed Regosol 

 
  

69



 
 

BCLI Land Capability - Legend 

 

  

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Land in this Class has no capability for arable agriculture or sustained natural grazing. All classified areas not included in Classes 1 to 

6 inclusive are placed in this class. Class 7 land may have limitations equivalent to Class 6 land but does not provide natural sustained 

grazing for domestic livestock due to unsuited natural vegetation. Also included are rock land, other non-soil areas, and small water 

bodies not shown on the maps. Some unimproved Class 7 land can be improved by draining, diking, irrigation, and/or levelling.

Land in this Class has no or only very slight limitations that restrict its use for the production of common agricultural crops.  Land in 

Class 1 is level or nearly level. The soils are deep, well to imperfectly drained under natural conditions, or have good artificial water 

table control, and hold moisture well. They can be managed and cropped without difficulty. Productivity is easily maintained for a 

wide range of filed crops.

Land in this Class has minor limitations that require good ongoing management practices or slightly restrict the range of crops, or 

both. Land in Class 2 has limitations which constitute a continuous minor management problem or may cause lower crop yields 

compared to Class 1 land but which do not pose a threat of crop loss under good management. The soils in Class 2 are deep, hold 

moisture well and can be managed and cropped with little difficulty.

Land in this Class has limitations that require moderately intensive management practices or moderately restrict the range of crops, 

or both. The limitations are more severe than for Class 2 land and management practices are more difficult to apply and maintain. 

The limitations may restrict the choice of suitable crops or affect one or more of the following practices: timing and ease of tillage, 

planting and harvesting, and methods of soil conservation.

Land in this Class has limitations that require special management practices or severely restrict the range of crops, or both. Land in 

Class 4 has limitations which make it suitable for only a few crops, or the yield for a wide range of crops is low, or the risk of crop 

failure is high, or soil conditions are such that special development and management practices are required. The limitations may 

seriously affect one or more of the following practices: timing and ease of tillage, planting and harvesting, and methods of soil 

conservation.

Land in this Class has limitations which restricts its capability to producing perennial forage crops or other specially adapted crops. 

Land in Class 5 is generally limited to the production of perennial forage crops or other specially adapted crops. Productivity of these 

suited crops may be high. Class 5 lands can be cultivated and some may be used for cultivated field crops provided unusually 

intensive management is employed and/or the crop is particularly adapted to the conditions peculiar to these lands. Cultivated filed 

crops may be grown on some Class 5 land where adverse climate is the main limitation, but crop failure can be expected under 

average conditions.

Land in this Class is non-arable but capable of producing native and/or uncultivated perennial forage crops. Land in Class 6 provides 

sustained natural grazing for domestic livestock and is not arable in its present condition. Land is placed in this class because of 

severe climate, or the terrain is unsuitable for cultivation or use of farm machinery, or the soils do not respond to intensive 

improvement practices. Some unimproved Class 6 land s can be improved by draining, diking and/or irrigation.

70



 
 

BCLI Land Capability 2075 KLO Rd 

Portion 
of Site 

Land Capability Rating, Unimproved Land Capability Rating, With 
Improvements 

4.9 hectares are 70% Class 4W (Excess Water Limitations) and 30% Class 5W (Excess Water 
limitations) 

 70% Class 4W are lands that require special 
management practices. The ‘W’ class 
indicates the occurrence of excess water 
during the growing period.  

Improvements are typically ditching to 
manage excess water.  

Class 2 have minor limitations that require 
good ongoing management practices. The 
soils in Class 2 are deep, hold moisture well 
and can be managed and cropped with 
little difficulty. 

 

 30% Class 5W are lands that require perennial 
forage crops or other specially adapted 
crops. The ‘W’ class indicates the 
occurrence of excess water during the 
growing period. 

Improvements are typically ditching to 
manage excess water.  

Class 3WF are lands that require 
moderately intensive management 
practices.  

The ‘W’ class indicates occasional 
occurrence of excess water during the 
growing period causing minor crop damage, 
but no crop loss, or the occurrence of 
excess water during the winter months 
adversely affecting perennial crops.  

Improvements are typically ditching to 
manage excess water. 

The ‘F’ classification includes soils with 
moderate nutrient holding ability, high 
acidity or alkalinity and/or high levels of 
carbonates. Fertility status does not 
restrict the range of crops.  

Moderate, ongoing additions of fertilizer 
and/or other soil amendments are required 
to maintain productivity for a wide range of 
crops.  

0.3 hectares are 100% Class 5W (Excess Water limitations) 

 100% Class 5W are lands that require perennial 
forage crops or other specially adapted 
crops. The ‘W’ class indicates the 
occurrence of excess water during the 
growing period. 

Improvements are typically ditching to 
manage excess water. 

Class 3F are lands that require moderately 
intensive management practices.  

The ‘F’ classification includes soils with 
moderate nutrient holding ability, high 
acidity or alkalinity and/or high levels of 
carbonates. Fertility status does not 
restrict the range of crops.  

Moderate, ongoing additions of fertilizer 
and/or other soil amendments are required 
to maintain productivity for a wide range of 
crops. 

  

71



 
 

0.2 hectares are 80% class 4W (Excess Water Limitations) & 20% class 5W (Excess Water 
Limitations) 

 80% Class 4W are lands that require special 
management practices. The ‘W’ class 
indicates the occurrence of excess water 
during the growing period.  

Improvements are typically ditching to 
manage excess water. 

Class 2 have minor limitations that require 
good ongoing management practices. The 
soils in Class 2 are deep, hold moisture well 
and can be managed and cropped with 
little difficulty. 

 

 20% Class 5W are lands that require perennial 
forage crops or other specially adapted 
crops. The ‘W’ class indicates the 
occurrence of excess water during the 
growing period. 

Improvements are typically ditching to 
manage excess water. 

Class 3WF are lands that require 
moderately intensive management 
practices.  

The ‘W’ class indicates occasional 
occurrence of excess water during the 
growing period causing minor crop damage, 
but no crop loss, or the occurrence of 
excess water during the winter months 
adversely affecting perennial crops.  

Improvements are typically ditching to 
manage excess water. 

The ‘F’ classification includes soils with 
moderate nutrient holding ability, high 
acidity or alkalinity and/or high levels of 
carbonates. Fertility status does not 
restrict the range of crops.  

Moderate, ongoing additions of fertilizer 
and/or other soil amendments are required 
to maintain productivity for a wide range of 
crops. 

0.2 hectares are 100% X 

 100% Class X are considered to be adversely 
affected by two or more limitations, 
unfavourable for any agriculture.    

No improvements 

0.1 hectares are class 4A (Droughtiness Limitations) 

 100% Class 4A are lands that require special 
management practices. The ‘A’ class 
indicates the insufficient precipitation or 
low water colding capacity of the soil.  

Improvements are typically irrigation to 
improve soil moisture.  

Class 3 are lands that require moderately 
intensive management practices. 

 

72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
 

Date: November 12, 2015 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: Agricultural Advisory Committee (AAC) 

From: Community Planning Department (MS) 

Application: A15-0011 Owner:  Kristi Caldwell 
James Caldwell 

Address: 4275 Goodison Road Applicant: Kristi Caldwell 

Subject: Application to the ALC for a Non-Farm Use (Distillery and Wedding Ceremonies)  

 

1.0 Purpose 

To obtain approval from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) under Section 20(3) of the 
Agricultural Land Commission Act for a “non-farm use” within the Agricultural Land Reserve 
(ALR) to have a distillery, using primarily non-farm products, and hold wedding ceremonies. 

2.0 Proposal 

2.1 Background 

In 2014, the owners inherited the 4275 Goodison Road from their parents, who purchased the 
property in 1990. They produce a variety of  farm products, and would like to add to their farm 
income through this request for two non-farm uses. The request is for a distillery, using flavours 
from their juniper and lavender, and primarily grains from other BC farms. As well, they would 
like to have the ability to hold wedding ceremonies on the property. 

2.2 Project Description 

The applicants are requesting a Non-Farm Use to allow  0.1 acre (0.04 ha) for non-farm uses, 
including a distillery, described above, and wedding ceremonies. (See attached Applicant’s 
Proposal Package).  Since taking over the property in 2014, agricultural activities, including 
plantings of 0.5 acre (0.2 ha), are: 

 55 free range chickens; 

 Vegetable production; 

 Herb production; and 

 Berry production. 

In 2015, juniper was planted to provide for the proposed distillery. The distillery will include 26 
gallon mini-still to be located in an existing outbuilding. The grains are to be sourced from BC 
producers. Herb and berry flavourings, including lavender, strawberries, basil, mint, and juniper, 
will be produced on the farm.  

92



A15-0011 – Page 2 

 
 

The applicants would also like to hold wedding ceremonies on the property, to be held on the 
existing lawn of 0.1 acre (0.04 ha).  

The applicants intend to broaden their agricultural activities with the inclusion of cattle farming 
in the spring of 2016, which was previously done by their parents. In addition, they intend to add 
an apiary in the winter of 2016, and floriculture in the spring of 2016. 

The property has an extensive collection of farm equipment, industrial tools and antiques, which 
includes a small blacksmith shop, a tool museum and three farm equipment sheds. 

The applicants conducted a neighbourhood open house on April 1, 2015, to outline their proposal 
and request support. (See attached ‘Neighbourhood Support’ in the Applicant’s Proposal 
Package). 
 
When the applicant’s parents owned and operated the farm, farm status was achieved with their 
cattle operation. The applicants are starting their operation, with primarily egg sales this year. To 
date, the income for 2015 has been just over $1,000, with $2,200 expected by the end of the year.  
 
Projected income for 2016, through a combination of egg sales, vegetables, herbs, floriculture, 
cattle and honey is $11,800.  As both the farm weddings and craft farm distillery would be in their 
start-up phases in 2016, the projected income from these is $8,000, including:  
 
Farm Wedding Ceremonies:  $6,000  (4 weddings @ $1,500) 
Craft Farm Distillery:  $2,000  (100 bottles @ $20 net profit per bottle) 
 

2.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located in the Southeast Kelowna Sector of the City and is within the 
Agricultural Land Reserve.  The Future Land Use of the property is Resource Protection Area 
(REP).  It is zoned A1 – Agriculture 1 (Maps 1 – 4, below) and is outside of the Permanent Growth 
Boundary.  The property varies in elevation from 554 metres above sea level (masl) at Goodison 
Road, to 552 masl at the west property line, with a knoll rising to 569 masl in the northeast 
quadrant of the property. 

Parcel Summary – 4275 Goodison Road: 

 Parcel Size: 2.5 ha (6.09 acres) 
 Elevation: 552 to 569 metres above sea level (masl) 
  

93



A15-0011 – Page 3 

 
 

Map 1 - Neighbourhood 

 
 

Map 2 – Subject Property  

 

 

 

 
  

Proposed 
Honey Forage 

Subject Property 

Mathews Road 

Proposed 
Lawn for 
Wedding 
Ceremonies 

Proposed 
Outbuilding 
for Distillery 

Barn 

Goodison Road 

Shop 

Equipment 
Storage 

Cattle  
Pasture 

94



A15-0011 – Page 4 

 
 

Map 3 – Agricultural Land Reserve 

 

 

Map 4 – Future Land Use 

 

  

Subject Property 

ALR 
(Typical) 

ALR 
(Typical) 

Subject Property 

Resource 
Protection Area 

(Typical) 

Resource 
Protection Area 

(Typical) 

95



A15-0011 – Page 5 

 
 

Map 5 – Site Plan – Proposed Site Uses 

 

 

96



A15-0011 – Page 6 

 
 

  Zoning and land uses adjacent to the property are as follows: 

Table 1:  Zoning and Land Use of Adjacent Property 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes 
Agriculture /  

Rural Residential 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes 
Agriculture /  

Rural Residential 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Rural Residential 

West  A1 – Agriculture 1 No 
Agriculture /  

Rural Residential 

 

2.4 Agricultural Capability / Soil Types 

According to the Canada Land Inventory (CLI), the subject property contains primarily Class 4A 
and Class 5A Agriculture Capability. The subclass ‘A’ indicates soil moisture deficits, and is 
considered improvable with irrigation. The subclass ‘T’ indicates challenges with topography, 
which is crop dependent, but not considered improvable. With improvements (irrigation), the 
agricultural capability of the property could be improved to 60% Class *2T  and  40% Class *3T 
capability. This refers to capability with respect to tree fruit and grapes, with *2T indicating 
simple slopes of 11 to 15% or complex slopes from 6 to 10%. Class *3T capability indicates 16 to 
30% simple slopes or complex slopes from 11 to 30%, with some limitations due to topography and 
aridity (see attachment). Class 1 through Class 3 is considered prime agricultural land, and is 
relatively rare in the Okanagan. 

According to the Soils Classification of BC, the soils on the property are 80% Harrland soils, and  
20% Paradise soils, which are both Eluviated Eutric Brunisols. Harrland soils are moderately 
coarse textured glacial till, typically capped with 10 to 30 cm of sandy eolian material. The 
textures are sandy loam, and are well drained, and have a moderate to low water holding 
capacity. They are generally moderately well suited to agricultural crops but can be constrained 
by topography in some locations. Usual uses are forage and tree fruits. 

Paradise soils have developed a sandy veneer between 25 and 60 cm thick, overlying gravelly 
fluvialglacial deposits. They tend to be moderately to coarse textured and well drained. They are 
generally farmed for tree fruits and vineyards, or intensive vegetable production.  

  

97



A15-0011 – Page 7 

 
 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services  

The AAC should consider: 

 City of Kelowna agriculture policy 

 Potential impacts to agriculture, both on the subject property and to neighbouring farms 

Report prepared by: 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:  Todd Cashin, Suburban and Rural Planning Manager 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Manager 
 

Attachments:  

Attachment A – Policies 
Attachment B – Technical Comments 
Subject Property Map 
Agricultural Land Capability Map 
Soil Capability Map 
Agricultural Capabililty Legend 
Applicant ALC Act Application for Non-Farm Use Supplementary Information 

98



 

 

SCHEDULE A - Policies 
 
 
 

Subject: 4275 Goodison Road (Non-Farm Use) 

 

1.0 Current Development Policies 

1.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Future Land Use1 

With respect to lands outside the Permanent Growth Boundary, Chapter 4 of the OCP states: 

 Lands outside the permanent growth boundary will not be supported for urban uses. 

Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines2 

Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines include: 

 Protect farm land and farm operations; 

 Minimize the impact of urban encroachment and land use conflicts on agricultural land; 

 Minimize conflicts created by activities designated as farm use by ALC regulation and non-
farm uses within agricultural areas. 

The subject property has a future land use designation of Resource Protection Area and relevant 
policies are included below: 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture3. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .3 Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on 
agricultural lands. 

Policy .7 Non-farm Uses. Support non-farm use applications on agricultural lands only where 
approved by the ALC and where the proposed uses: 

 are consistent with the Zoning Bylaw and OCP; 

 provide significant benefits to local agriculture; 

 can be accommodated using existing municipal infrastructure; 

 minimize impacts on productive agricultural lands; 

 will not preclude future use of the lands for agriculture; 

 will not harm adjacent farm operations. 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land4. 

                                                
1
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 4.7 (Future Land Use). 

2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 15.2 (Farm Protection DP Guidelines). 

3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.33.  
4 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.34.  

99



A15-0006 – Page 2 

 
 

File A15-0011   

1.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

ALR Application Criteria5 

Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

1.3 Agricultural Land Commission Act (ALCA) 

Purposes of the commission – Section 6 of the ALCA 

The following are the purposes of the commission: 

(a) to preserve agricultural land; 

(b) to encourage farming on agricultural land in collaboration with 

other communities of interest; 

(c) to encourage local governments, first nations, the government and 

its agents to enable and accommodate farm use of agricultural land 

and uses compatible with agriculture in their plans, bylaws and 

policies. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
5 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 

100



File A15-0011   

SCHEDULE B – Technical Comments 
 
 
 

 

 

Subject: 

 
 
 
A15-0011 – 4275 Goodison Road – Non-Farm Use Application 

 

1.1 Development Engineering Department 

Development Engineering has no comments at this point in time with regard to this application, 
however, a comprehensive report will be provided at the time of development application 
submission when the Agricultural Land Commission agrees to the proposed activity on the subject 
property. 

1.2 Southeast Kelowna Irrigation District (SEKID) 

SEKID has no comments or objections to the above referenced file. 

101



ALR

A15-0011

ALC NON-FARM USE

4275 GOODISON RD

Subject Property

Map: 1,146 x 641 m -- Scale 1:6,765 2015-11-03

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

11/3/2015http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Subject_Properties_Ar...

102



6:4AT 4:5TA (6:*2 T 4:*3TA)
Area (ha): 2.5

Percent: 100 % 

GO
OD

IS
ON

 R
D

MATHEWS RD

Land Capability = Brown/ Soil Class = Green

103



8HD/2PE
Area (ha): 2.5
Percent: 100%

GO
OD

IS
ON

 R
D

MATHEWS RD

Land Capability = Brown/ Soil Class = Green

104



BCLI Land Capability - Legend 

 

 

 

  

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Land in this Class has no capability for arable agriculture or sustained natural grazing. All classified areas not included in Classes 1 to 

6 inclusive are placed in this class. Class 7 land may have limitations equivalent to Class 6 land but does not provide natural sustained 

grazing for domestic livestock due to unsuited natural vegetation. Also included are rock land, other non-soil areas, and small water 

bodies not shown on the maps. Some unimproved Class 7 land can be improved by draining, diking, irrigation, and/or levelling.

Land in this Class has no or only very slight limitations that restrict its use for the production of common agricultural crops.  Land in 

Class 1 is level or nearly level. The soils are deep, well to imperfectly drained under natural conditions, or have good artificial water 

table control, and hold moisture well. They can be managed and cropped without difficulty. Productivity is easily maintained for a 

wide range of filed crops.

Land in this Class has minor limitations that require good ongoing management practices or slightly restrict the range of crops, or 

both. Land in Class 2 has limitations which constitute a continuous minor management problem or may cause lower crop yields 

compared to Class 1 land but which do not pose a threat of crop loss under good management. The soils in Class 2 are deep, hold 

moisture well and can be managed and cropped with little difficulty.

Land in this Class has limitations that require moderately intensive management practices or moderately restrict the range of crops, 

or both. The limitations are more severe than for Class 2 land and management practices are more difficult to apply and maintain. 

The limitations may restrict the choice of suitable crops or affect one or more of the following practices: timing and ease of tillage, 

planting and harvesting, and methods of soil conservation.

Land in this Class has limitations that require special management practices or severely restrict the range of crops, or both. Land in 

Class 4 has limitations which make it suitable for only a few crops, or the yield for a wide range of crops is low, or the risk of crop 

failure is high, or soil conditions are such that special development and management practices are required. The limitations may 

seriously affect one or more of the following practices: timing and ease of tillage, planting and harvesting, and methods of soil 

conservation.

Land in this Class has limitations which restricts its capability to producing perennial forage crops or other specially adapted crops. 

Land in Class 5 is generally limited to the production of perennial forage crops or other specially adapted crops. Productivity of these 

suited crops may be high. Class 5 lands can be cultivated and some may be used for cultivated field crops provided unusually 

intensive management is employed and/or the crop is particularly adapted to the conditions peculiar to these lands. Cultivated filed 

crops may be grown on some Class 5 land where adverse climate is the main limitation, but crop failure can be expected under 

average conditions.

Land in this Class is non-arable but capable of producing native and/or uncultivated perennial forage crops. Land in Class 6 provides 

sustained natural grazing for domestic livestock and is not arable in its present condition. Land is placed in this class because of 

severe climate, or the terrain is unsuitable for cultivation or use of farm machinery, or the soils do not respond to intensive 

improvement practices. Some unimproved Class 6 land s can be improved by draining, diking and/or irrigation.

105



106



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Business Concept Summary 
  

Prepared August 10, 2015 

107



Caldwell Heritage Farm – Business Concept 
 
 
History of the Property 
 
Caldwell Heritage Farm is situated in 
southeast Kelowna at 4275 Goodison Road.  
It is a six-acre parcel located in the 
Agricultural Land Reserve and is zoned A-1.  
Just under two of the six acres are pasture.  
 
The property was purchased in 1990 by 
Jake and Julie Warkentin who developed 
their ‘labour of love’ into a farmland 
paradise over 24 years.  At the centre of 
the property is a 3,000 square foot log 
house surrounded by the rambling garden oasis evolved from Julie’s passion for 
gardening – the property won ‘Best Large Residential Garden’ in the 2003 Communities 
in Bloom competition.  
 
This setting is also the location of a large, unique collection of farm vehicles and 

antiques inspired by Jake’s farm upbringing in 
the Fraser Valley.  It includes more than 30 
farm tractors, many of them fully restored, 
numerous vintage vehicles and hundreds of 
antique industrial tools.  Jake presented his 
collection in various buildings and groupings, 
providing an informal “tour” enjoyed by friends 
and family over the years.  
 
On Julie and Jake’s passing, the property was 

left to their daughter Kristi, son-in-law James and their two young granddaughters.   
 
Business Concept 
 
Kristi and James are committed to carrying on Jake and Julie’s legacies – at the same 
time, applying their values and goals for their own young family to a viable business 
venture.    
 
Family Farm 
 
Their first and primary focus has been to get the farm itself up and running.  Since 
January 2015 they have undertaken a number of developments contributing to their 
goal of operating a well-rounded family farm: 
 
• Free Range Chickens (layers) - 55 Sex-Sal-Link's arrived in May, and should 

come into lay by Sept-Oct.  A mobile coop is under construction, to allow the 

108



chickens to feed on and fertilize the full pasture. 
• Vegetable garden - constructed and planted this spring, and now in full 

production.  All produce is grown using organic practices. 
• Berry & herb production - first plantings of juniper and lavender complete, 

more to be added spring 2016. 
• Apiary - bee hive ordered, scheduled to arrive in Feb 2016. 
• Bee forage - dutch white clover to be planted spring 2016. 
• Floriculture – large wildflower (cutting) garden to be planted spring 2016. 
• Cattle - plan to acquire three head in fall 2015; likely Angus / Hereford cross. 

The goal is to carry on Jake’s practice of raising free range, primarily grass-fed 
cattle, receiving no hormones, steroids or antibiotics while raised on the farm. 

The expectation is that the activities above will generate the minimum $2,500 annual 
net profit required for the property to retain its farm status. 

 

One of the primary inspirations behind the 
Caldwells’ desire to operate a farm is the 
opportunity to raise their children within this 
lifestyle.  Educating the next generation 
about ‘where food really comes from’ is 
something both James and Kristi feel very 
passionate about.  The prospect of sharing 
this with others beyond their own family is 
what brought the Caldwells to consider 
delving into agri-tourism. 

 
Agri-tourism Initiatives 
 
The layout and topography of the property lend well to a number of agri-tourism 
opportunities which draw attention to the agricultural history of the area, respect the 
agricultural integrity of the land and would contribute to local economic development 
through a world-class tourism product.  
 
The Caldwells are currently conducting in-depth market research to validate and 
refine their concept and develop a phased plan for implementation.  The following 
activities and timelines are subject to clarification of land use allowances and other 
requirements.   
 
That said, there are three main agri-tourism activities the Caldwells hope to embark 
upon, as follows. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

109



1.  Agricultural Heritage Exhibit 

The collection of farm equipment and 
antiques form an informal museum, 
housed in various structures,  over 5,800 
square feet throughout the property. 
Guests would be encouraged to stroll the 
grounds, and see and read about the 
various pieces and how they were used 
when ‘in service’. Interpretive signage 
will accompany key pieces, and research 
is underway to ensure the descriptions 
and displays are accurate and relevant to 
visitors’ overall experience of the farm. 
 
Points of interest include a small blacksmith shop, a tool museum, and three purpose-
built garages that house the various tractors and vehicles.  Numerous pieces in the 
collection have a specific connection to the agricultural or business heritage of the 
Okanagan or British Columbia, including: 
 

• 1952 Massey-Harris 55 farm 
tractor – formerly used at Douglas 
Lake Ranch 

 
• 1947 Fargo 1 ¾ ton flatbed truck – 

used locally by Jenkins Cartage 
 

• 1940 Dodge ½ ton pick-up – 40 yrs 
in Cranbrook, 30+ yrs in Kelowna 
used by Robertson’s Clothing 

 
• Horse-drawn doctor’s buggy – used in BC (exact area to be researched) as 

doctor’s transportation for house calls until the 1950’s 
 

• 1919 National Buk – used as a 
logging truck in the Carmi & 
Beaverdell areas in the 1940’s and 
50’s 

 
• 1905 International Harvester Hay 

Press – used in the North Okanagan 
as a contract / mobile hay bailer, at 
various farms in the area. 

 
 

 
 

110



2.  Craft Farm Distillery – On-site Demonstrations, Tastings & Sales 
 
The second key piece of the Caldwells’ agri-tourism plan is a small batch craft 
distillery, to be housed in one of the existing outbuildings.  Efforts would be directed 
at growing juniper and other botanicals/flavourings on-site at the farm, and sourcing 

the grains and other key ingredients exclusively from BC farm 
producers.  The desire is to provide demonstrations of various portions 
of the distillation process using a 26-gallon copper still system.  The 
‘mash’ would be cooked on an existing cast-iron antique wood burning 
stove, fermented, and then run through the still. 
 
The intimate nature of such a compact and unique demonstration set-
up would allow visitors to see and understand the fascinating 
distillation process, even when done on such a small scale. The use of 
ingredients grown on site would make this a true ‘farm to bottle’ 
offering. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
3.  Farm Weddings – Ceremony Venue 
 
Kelowna is one of the top destinations for 
weddings in Canada and research by the 
Caldwells to date clearly shows a shortage 
of local wedding venues to meet demand.  
There is a strong trend to couples choosing 
locations that are less formal and traditional 
than in the past, including settings that are 
rustic, historically interesting and authentic.    
 
The backyard area located off the west 
veranda of the Caldwell property has already proven an ideal location for wedding 
ceremonies.  For those slightly more ‘adventurous’, there is the possibility for the 
ceremony to be held in the pasture, in or near a small barn on the property.   Arriving 
wedding guests would be warned to watch for cow pies from the field’s usual 
residents… 
 

111



One of the unique benefits of holding a wedding ceremony at the property is the 
opportunity for guests, before and after the ceremony, to meander through the 
gardens that surround the wedding ceremony site, as well as explore the agricultural 
heritage exhibit buildings and displays. 
 
 

 
 
Key Timeline Targets 
 
Jan – Sept 2015 
• Farm infrastructure development including acquisition of chickens, construction 

and planting of vegetable garden, juniper and herb plantings, egg sales begin. 
 
Oct 2015 – April 2016 
• Research / confirm history of key display pieces for creation of interpretive 

signage for agricultural heritage exhibit. 
• Complete required improvements and reorganization of display buildings and their 

contents, including distillery set-up. 
• Completion and implementation of marketing plan for farm and agri-tourism 

offerings; including website, collateral, advertising and social media strategies. 
 
May - Aug 2016 and subsequent summer seasons 
• Begin business operations as follows: 

o Wed – Fri, 10 am – 4pm:  
Self / lightly guided tours of the farm and agricultural heritage exhibits.  
If interest warrants, consideration will be given to bringing on additional 
staff for scheduled demonstrations of the blacksmith shop, craft farm 
distillery and hay press. 

o Saturdays, 12:00 pm – 6:00 pm:   
Available for wedding ceremony bookings. 

 
 

112



Management 
 
James and Kristi Caldwell will function as sole proprietors of the business.  James has 
led various crews and trades in his career as a self-employed building contractor, 
specializing in home renovations and landscaping. His previous experience is in 
restaurant management in Vancouver, including the Queen Elizabeth Theatre. His 
education includes a Fine Arts Degree from Emily Carr University, and he also has a 
history in the performing arts.   
 
Kristi’s expertise lies in marketing and communications.  Her education includes a 
diploma in Tourism Marketing Management from BCIT, and the last 6 years of her 
career were spent as Production Manager for the Vancouver Aquarium Marine Science 
Centre.   
 
James and Kristi’s combined business experience will serve them well as they continue 
to cultivate relationships in the local tourism community, identify strategic marketing 
opportunities for the farm and begin to welcome visitors to their property. 
 
Project Financing  
 
Funding for all phases of the business would come from cash reserves, eliminating the 
need for financing at start-up.  Comprehensive cost analyses for all phases of the 
business concept are underway to ensure the efficient, well-planned and successful 
business venture. 
 
The Value of Community 
 
The Caldwells are eager to follow in Julie and Jake’s footsteps in giving back to the 
community through their business ventures.  They plan to donate a portion of the 
proceeds from the agri-tourism activities to the Okanagan Historical Society and 
Okanagan Antique Power Club, both organizations near and dear to Julie and Jake’s 
hearts. 
 
James and Kristi also place great value on being ‘good neighbours’, and serving their 
surrounding farm community well.  They held a neighbourhood get-together on April 1, 
where they shared their plans for the farm and agri-tourism initiatives as described 
above.  All residents of Goodison Rd, as well as additional residents from surrounding 
properties, confirmed their unanimous support of the Caldwells’ proposed business 
endeavours (see next pg).  James and Kristi value these relationships greatly, and are 
committed to contributing to their neighbourhood only in the most positive of ways. 

113



114



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
 

Date: November 12, 2015 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: Agricultural Advisory Committee (AAC) 

From: Community Planning Department (MS) 

Application: A15-0012 Owner:  Wyn Lewis 
Marion Lewis 

Address: 3240 Pooley Road Applicant: Wyn Lewis 

Subject: Application to the ALC for Non-Farm Use (Parking, Frisbee Golf and Special Events)  

 

1.0 Purpose 

To obtain approval from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) under Section 20 (3) of the 
Agricultural Land Commission Act for a "Non-farm Use" within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) 
to build a parking lot for the winery, for special events at the winery and for the proposed 
frisbee golf area. 

2.0 Proposal 

2.1 Background 

Okanaganvilla Estate Winery was established in 2008, with 6 acres of grapes planted, and the 
Vibrant Vine Tasting Room was opened in 2010. 

2.2 Project Description 

The applicant is requesting a Non-Farm Use from the ALC to allow approximately 0.5 acre (0.2 
ha) for non-farm uses including a parking lot, frisbee golf and to hold special events at the 
winery. The intent of the parking lot is to avoid clients parking on nearby roads and on 
surrounding farm properties, particularly during special events. The plan will reduce the size of 
the existing parking lot (now 20 car capacity) down to 10 handicapped parking spaces, while 
building another parking lot near Pooley Road (attached).  

The existing parking area, currently 900 square metres, will replace 500 square metres of 
existing crush with asphalt, and plant grass on 400 square metres of the remaining area. The new 
parking area near Pooley Road will be 1500 square metres of crush. A ‘Frisbee Golf’ area is also 
shown on the site plan (attached). The existing hedges will remain along Pooley Road, the west 
property line and the access road, except where access is required. The applicant notes that the 
parking is planned in an area where the existing vines have been damaged by frost, where no 
crop was harvested in 2014 or 2015. 

115



A15-0012 – Page 2 

 
 

 The proposal includes interplanting the existing vines on the south portion of the property with 
additional vines, doubling the yield of this area. This will be done by adding an extra row of vines 
between the current 12 ft spaced vines. This spacing of 6 foot vines has been done successfully 
on the north planting on the property. (See Applicant’s Package, attached). 

2.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located in the Southeast Kelowna Sector of the City and is within the 
Agricultural Land Reserve.  The Future Land Use of the property is Resource Protection Area 
(REP).  It is zoned A1 – Agriculture 1 (Maps 1 – 4, below) and is outside of the Permanent Growth 
Boundary.   

The property currently has 6 acres of grapes, 2 acres of apples 2 acres for the Farm Residential 
Footprint, 1 acre for the winery, and 0.5 acres of roads and parking. (See Applicant’s Package, 
attached). The grades are fairly level near Pooley Road, but the property slopes steeply to the 
north. 

Parcel Summary – 3240 Pooley Road: 

 Parcel Size: 4.6 ha (11.3 acres) 
 Elevation: 445 to 472 metres above sea level (masl) 

 

Map 1 - Neighbourhood 

 
 

  

3240 Pooley Road 

McCulloch Road Pooley Road 

116



A15-0012 – Page 3 

 
 

Map 2 – Subject Property  

 

 

Map 3 – Agricultural Land Reserve 

 

 

  

Subject Property 

ALR 
(Typical) 

Winery 

Proposed 
Parking Lot 
and Frisbee 
Golf 

ALR 
(Typical) 

Existing Parking for 
20 stalls to be 
reduced to 10 
Handicapped Stalls 

Farm 
Residence 

117



A15-0012 – Page 4 

 
 

Map 4 – Future Land Use 

 

2.4 Agricultural Capability / Soil Types 

According to the Canada Land Inventory (CLI), 88,7% of the subject property contains primarily 
Class 5A Agriculture Capability. Class 5A has limitations to crops based on aridity, due to either 
soil permeability or climate or both, and is considered improvable with the addition of irrigation. 
With improvements, this area can be improved to Class *3 capability, which refers to specific 
capability with respect to grapes and tree fruits. Class 1 to Class 3 is considered prime 
agricultural land and relatively rare in the Okanagan.  

The north portion of the property has a similar rating, of Class 5A and Class 4A. However, this 
area is improvable to Class 3 with a limitation due to topography, with steeper slopes. 

Rutland Soils are dominant on the property. These are gently to moderately sloping glaciofluvial 
deposits, which typically have 10 to 25 cm of sandy loam over gravelly loam or very gravelly 
sand. Drainage is rapid. Tree fruits and grapes are typically grown on Rutland soils. 

 

  

Subject Property 

Resource 
Protection Area 

(Typical) 

Resource 
Protection Area 

(Typical) 

118



A15-0012 – Page 5 

 
 

Map 4 – Site Plan – Proposed Site Uses 

 

 

119



A15-0012 – Page 6 

 
 

Zoning and land uses adjacent to the property are as follows: 

Table 1:  Zoning and Land Use of Adjacent Property 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes 
Agriculture /  

Apples & Cherries 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes 
Agriculture /  

Apples 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes 
Agriculture /  

Apples 

West  A1 – Agriculture 1 No 
Agriculture /  

Apples 

 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services  

With respect to the application for a Non-Farm Use, the AAC should consider: 

 City of Kelowna agriculture policy 

 Potential impacts to agriculture, both on the subject property in the present and in the 
long term and to neighbouring farms 

Report prepared by: 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:  Todd Cashin, Suburban and Rural Planning Manager 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Manager 
 

Attachments:  

Attachment A – Policies 
Attachment B – Technical Comments 
Subject Property Map 
Land Capability Map 
Soil Capability Map 
Applicant Proposal Package 

120



SCHEDULE A - Policies 
 
 
 

Subject: 
3240 Pooley Rd – Non-Farm Use Application to ALC 
(Parking Lot and Special Events) 

 

1.0 Current Development Policies 

1.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Future Land Use1 

With respect to lands outside the Permanent Growth Boundary, Chapter 4 of the OCP states: 

 Lands outside the permanent growth boundary will not be supported for urban uses. 

Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines2 

Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines include: 

 Protect farm land and farm operations; 

 Minimize the impact of urban encroachment and land use conflicts on agricultural land; 

 Minimize conflicts created by activities designated as farm use by ALC regulation and non-
farm uses within agricultural areas. 

The subject property has a future land use designation of Resource Protection Area and relevant 
policies are included below: 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture3. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .3 Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on 
agricultural lands. 

Policy .7 Non-farm Uses. Support non-farm use applications on agricultural lands only where 
approved by the ALC and where the proposed uses: 

 are consistent with the Zoning Bylaw and OCP; 

 provide significant benefits to local agriculture; 

 can be accommodated using existing municipal infrastructure; 

 minimize impacts on productive agricultural lands; 

 will not preclude future use of the lands for agriculture; 

 will not harm adjacent farm operations. 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land4. 

                                                
1
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 4.7 (Future Land Use). 

2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 15.2 (Farm Protection DP Guidelines). 

3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.33.  
4 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.34.  

121



A15-0012 – Page 2 

 
 

File A15-0012   

1.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

ALR Application Criteria5 

Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

1.3 Agricultural Land Commission Act (ALCA) 

Purposes of the commission – Section 6 of the ALCA 

The following are the purposes of the commission: 

(a) to preserve agricultural land; 

(b) to encourage farming on agricultural land in collaboration with 

other communities of interest; 

(c) to encourage local governments, first nations, the government and 

its agents to enable and accommodate farm use of agricultural land 

and uses compatible with agriculture in their plans, bylaws and 

policies. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
5 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 

122



File A15-0012   

SCHEDULE B – Technical Comments 
 
 
 

 

 

Subject: 

 
 
 
A15-0012 – 3240 Pooley Road – Non-Farm Use Application 

 

1.1 Building Department 

A Building Permit required for any parking lot areas that are paved, to ensure that surface 
drainage has been addressed. 

 

123



0:5A   :    (0:*3 P  :   )
Area (ha): 3.9
Percent: 85 % 

0:5A   :    (0:*3 T  :   )
Area (ha): 0.5

Percent: 11.3 % 

0:5A   :    (0:*3 P  :   )
Area (ha): 0.2

Percent: 3.7 % 

7:5A  3:4A  (7:*3 P 3:2A )
Area (ha): 0

Percent: 0 % 

POOLEY RD

RO
SE

 R
D

Land Capability = Brown/ Soil Class = Green

124



0R/  
Area (ha): 3.9
Percent: 85%

0R/  
Area (ha): 0.5

Percent: 11.3%

0R/  
Area (ha): 0.2
Percent: 3.7%

7R/3DH
Area (ha): 0
Percent: 0%

POOLEY RD

RO
SE

 R
D

Land Capability = Brown/ Soil Class = Green

125



ALR

A15-00012

ALC NON-FARM USE 

3240 POOLEY ROAD

Subject Property

Map: 1,731 x 962 m -- Scale 1:10,225 2015-11-05

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

11/5/2015http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Subject_Properties_Ar...

126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135


	Agenda
	2.1 A15-0010 AAC Report.pdf
	2.1 A15-0010 - Old Vernon Rd 1040 - AAC - Schedule A.pdf
	2.1 A15-0010 Subject Property Map.pdf
	2.1 ALC Staff Report 2000 - 1040 and 982 Old Vernon Rd.pdf
	2.1 A15-0010 Agrologist Report.pdf
	2.1 A15-0010 - ALC Resolution 993 - 1985.pdf
	2.2 KLO Rd 2075 AAC Report Z15-0045.pdf
	2.2 KLO Rd 2075 AAC Report Z15-0045(1).pdf
	2.2 Z15-0045 Attach AAC KLO Rd 2075.pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - AAC Report(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - AAC - Schedule A(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - AAC- Schedule B(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - Subject Property(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - Land(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - Soil(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - Ag Capability Legend(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 - 4275 Goodison Rd - Site Plan(1).pdf
	2.3 A15-0011 4275 Goodison Rd - Application Pkg(1).pdf
	2.4 A15-0012 AAC Report - 3240 Pooley Rd.pdf
	2.4 A15-0012 - 3240 Pooley Rd - AAC - Schedule A.pdf
	2.4 A15-0012 - 3240 Pooley Rd - AAC- Schedule B.pdf
	2.4 A15-0012 - 3240 Pooley Rd - Land.pdf
	2.4 A15-0012 - 3240 Pooley Rd - Soil.pdf
	2.4 A15-0012 - 3420 Pooley Rd - Subject Property.pdf
	2.4 A15-0012 - 3240 Pooley Rd -  Applicant Package.pdf
	3. Draft Minutes - October 8.pdf

